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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P.

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Gulf Insurance Group K.P.S.C. (the “Parent Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”), as at 31 December 2024, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards.

What we have audited
The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024;

. the consolidated statement of income for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include material accounting policy

information and other explanatory information.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Code) and the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements in the State of Kuwait. We have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Al-Shatti & Co.
Arraya Tower Il, 23rd - 24th Floor, P.O. Box 1753, Safat 13018 Sharqg, Kuwait
T: +965 2227 5777 F: +965 2227 5888, www.pwc.com
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. (continued)

Our audit approach

Overview

Key Audit Matter Valuation of liability for incurred claims - present value of future cash flows and

risk adjustment

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material
misstatement in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where management
made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved
making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits,
we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters,
consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement
due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group, the
accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of liability for incurred claims - present We performed the following procedures :

value of future cash flows and risk adjustment

e Understood and evaluated management's
As at 31 December 2024, as disclosed in notes 8, the  process for the valuation of outstanding claims.
estimates of present value of future cash flows
amounted to KD 456,452 thousand (2023: KD 415,773
thousand) and the risk adjustment amounted to KD

37,222 thousand (2023: KD 39,155 thousand).

e Evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the management's experts based on
their professional qualifications and experience and
assessed their independence.

The valuation of the liability for incurred claims (LIC)
under IFRS 17 is a key judgmental area for
management as it requires the use of complex actuarial
methods to estimate contractual cash flows, in

e Performed substantive tests, on a sample basis,
on the amounts recorded for claims notified and
paid; including comparing the outstanding claims
amount to appropriate source documentation to

particular ultimate claim expectations and claim
development patterns. The present value of future cash
flows is based on the best estimate of the ultimate cost
of all claims incurred but not settled at the reporting
date, whether reported or not, together with the related
claims handling costs. In addition, the risk adjustment
for non-financial risk is applied to the present value of
the estimated future cash flows and reflects the
compensation that the Group requires for bearing the
uncertainty about the amount and timing of the cash
flows from non-financial risk. The Group applies key
judgments and assumptions in deciding on the
technique used to determine the risk adjustment for
non-financial risks.

evaluate the valuation of outstanding claim
reserves.

o Checked the completeness of the underlying data
used as inputs into the actuarial valuations, and
tested on sample basis, the accuracy of underlying
claims data used by the management in estimating
the present value of the future cash flows and risk
adjustment for non-financial risk by comparing it to
the accounting and other records
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. (continued)

Our audit approach (continued)

Key audit matter (continued)

Key audit matter (continued)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
(continued)

We involved our actuarial specialists to:

e Evaluate the methodology and assumptions
related to the present value of future cash flows, risk
adjustment, and discounting against the
requirements of IFRS 17 as well as alignment with
industry practice.

e Assess the appropriateness of key actuarial
assumptions used including claims ratios and
development patterns.

e Independently project the future cash flows
relating to claims incurred but not settled at the
reporting date, whether reported or not, being a
component of the best estimate liability for incurred
claims using sensitivity testing on the key areas of
judgment to develop a reasonable range and
compare it to management’s estimate.

e Evaluate management's approach to determining
the risk adjustment relative to the requirements of
IFRS 17, and perform independent assessment to
confirm that the risk adjustment is within IFRS 17
methodology set by management.

e Independently calculate the impact of the time
value of money on the components of the liability for
incurred claims and compare it to management'’s
estimate.

We assessed the adequacy and appropriateness of
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.



=
pwec

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. (continued)

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the report of
the Board of Directors (but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the Group’s complete
Annual Report, which is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do
not and will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Group’s complete Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated
financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards and the Companies’ Law no. 1 of 2016 and
its executive regulations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate
the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
° Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Plan and perform the Group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an
opinion on the Group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Gulf
Insurance Group K.S.C.P. (continued)

Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the
consolidated financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Board of Directors
relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that,
we obtained all information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the
consolidated financial statements incorporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No.
1 of 2016, its executive regulation and by the Parent Company's Memorandum of Incorporation and
Articles of Association, as amended, that an inventory count was duly carried out and that, to the best
of our knowledge and belief, no violations of the Companies Law No. 1 of 2016, its executive regulation
nor of the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended,
have occurred during the financial year ended 31 December 2024 that might have had a material effect
on the business of the Group or on its consolidated financial position.

Moreover, we further report that during the course of our audit, we have not become aware of any
violations of Law No. 7 of 2010 pertaining to the Establishment of the Capital Markets Authority and the
Regulation of Securities’ Activity and subsequent amendments thereto and its executive bylaws during
the year ended 31 December 2024 that might have had a material effect on the business of the Group
or on its consolidated financial position.

A

Khalid Ebrahim Al-Shatti
License No.175
PricewaterhouseCoopers (Al-Shatti & Co.)

27 March 2025
Kuwait



Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
KD 000’s
Note KD 000’s (Restated)*

Insurance revenue 8 846,586 818,298
Insurance service expenses 8 (743,674) (691,197)
Insurance service results before reinsurance contracts held 102,912 127,101
Net expense from reinsurance contracts held 8 (62,042) (77,348)
Insurance service result 40,870 49,753
Finance expense from insurance contracts issued 8 (16,692) (20,158)
Finance income from reinsurance contracts held 8 7,328 9,675
Net insurance result 31,506 39,270
Net investment income 3 12,654 16,199
Interest income 39,438 29,927
Net investment income results 52,092 46,126
Share of results from associates 10 3,737 2318
Impairment of investment in associates 10 (400) (10,824)
Gain on sale of associate 10 299 -
Gain on bargain purchase from acquisition of a subsidiary - 4,642
Loss from sale of a subsidiary - (8,872)
Non-attributable general and administrative expenses (37,016) (27,264)
Other income, net 757 2,116
Net monetary losses due to hyperinflation (4,028) (1,244)
Finance costs (6,496) (7,288)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR BEFORE TAXATION 40,451 38,980
Group Directors Fees (185) (185)
Contribution to KFAS (332) (377)
NLST (796) (597)
Zakat (130) (189)
Taxation from foreign subsidiaries (7,186) (8,103)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 31,822 29,529
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company 25,922 21,206
Non-controlling interests 5,900 8,323

31,822 29,529

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

COMPANY 4 80.17 fils 62.62 fils
*The comparative information has been restated to reflect the adjustments in Note 30.

The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of this consolidated financial statements.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2024

2024 2023
KD 000’s
KD 000’s (Restated)*
Profit for the year 31,822 29,529
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Items that are or may be subsequently reclassified to consolidated statement of income
- Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (14,569) (145)
- Change in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI (debt instruments) 1,077) (630)
- Share of other comprehensive income in investment in associates (672) (570)
- Other comprehensive income recycled to profit or loss on sale of associate (403) -
- Insurance finance income (expense) for insurance contracts issued 389 (869)
- Finance (expense) income from reinsurance contracts held (214) 445
- Hyperinflation impact 4,074 2,457
(12,472) 688
Items that will not subsequently reclassified to consolidated statement of income:
- Change in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI 5,576 537
- Share of other comprehensive (loss) income in investment in associates (71) 101
- Revaluation of property and equipment (2,057) 1,303
- Remeasurement of end of service benefits 359 8
3,807 1,949
Other comprehensive (loss) income for the year (8,665) 2,637
Total comprehensive income for the year 23,157 32,166
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company 18,407 24,766
Non-controlling interests 4,750 7,400
23,157 32,166

*The comparative information has been restated to reflect the adjustments in Note 30.

The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of this consolidated financial statements.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

For the year ended 31 December 2024

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

Time deposits

Insurance contract assets

Reinsurance contract assets

Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Other assets

Debt instruments at amortised cost

Deferred tax assets from foreign subsidiaries

Right of use assets

Investments in associates

Investment properties

Property and equipment

Intangible assets

Goodwill

Loans secured by life insurance policies

Disposal group held for sale
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES

Insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance contract liabilities
Income tax payable

Bank Overdraft

Term loans

Deferred tax liabilities from foreign subsidiaries
Other liabilities

Provision for end of service benefits
Lease liabilities

Total liabilities

Equity

Share capital

Share premium

Treasury shares

Treasury shares reserve

Statutory reserve

Voluntary reserve

Effect of changes in ownership interest of subsidiaries
Other reserve

Insurance and reinsurance finance reserve
Cumulative changes in fair value reserve
Foreign currency translation reserve
Revaluation reserve

Retained earnings

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company

Subordinated perpetual Tier 2 bonds
Non-controlling interests

Net Equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

*The comparative information has been restated to reflect the adjustments in Note 30.

Bijan Khostowshahi
Chairman

Note

O OO oW
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16
17

2024 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s
(Restated)*
160,847 156,405
36,989 62,674
29,021 6,970
264,195 242,269
121,238 97,569
374,097 332,809
28,078 28,788
72,995 76,895
2,566 3,231
5,897 5,348
24,126 24,297
6,656 8,354
35,921 38,993
41,518 46,343
33,395 33,319
138 619
1,237,677 1,164,883
- 10,533
1,237,677 1,175,416
634,503 577,846
22,461 36,053
11,986 11,501
- 3,082
50,866 53,116
2,408 1,618
112,859 95,936
17,313 17,087
5,225 5,034
857,621 801,273
28,457 28,457
50,947 50,947
- (429)
4,268 3,099
28,457 28,457
40,671 40,671
(2,671) (2,837)
(1,502) (1,643)
1,014 839
4,183 (771)
(50,195) (39,315)
14,607 16,014
124,323 112,770
242,559 236,259
60,000 60,000
77,497 77,884
380,056 374,143
1,237,677 1,175,416

The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of this consolidated financial statements.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December 2024

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year before taxation

Adjustments for:

Net investment income

Interest income

Share of results of associates

Impairment of investment in associates

Gain on sale of associates

Gain on bargain purchase from acquisition of a subsidiary
Impairment of investment in a subsidiary held for sale
Gain on sale of a subsidiary

Depreciation of property and equipment and right of use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets

Provision charged for end of service benefits

Monetary loss from hyperinflation

Finance costs

Impairment of intangible assets

Foreign currency translation reserve recycled to statement of profit or loss on disposal of

subsidiary

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Insurance contract assets

Reinsurance contract assets

Other assets

Insurance contract liabilities

Reinsurance contract liabilities

Other liabilities

Remuneration paid to directors

Provision for end of service benefits paid
Income taxes paid

Net cash flows generated from operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Movement in time deposits

Net movement in investments

Net purchases of investments carried at fair value through profit or loss
Net purchases of investments at fair value through other comprehensive income
Net movement of debt instruments at amortized cost

Net movement of loans secured by life insurance policies

Purchase of property and equipment

Additions of investment properties

Additions on intangible assets

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

Proceeds from sale of investments properties

Interest income received

Dividend income received

Dividend received from associates

Rental income received

Net proceeds from sale of investment in assoicates

Proceeds from sale of a subsidiary, net of cash divested

Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired

Net cash flows generated from (used in) investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payment of lease liabilities

Term loans paid

Finance costs paid

Proceeds from sale of treasury shares

Acquisition of non-controlling interest

Interest paid on subordinated perpetual Tier 2 bonds
Dividends paid

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Net cash flows used in financing activities

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

Foreign currency translation adjustments

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR

*The comparative information has been restated to reflect the adjustments in Note 30.

2024 2023
Note KD 000’s KD 000’s (Restated)
40,451 38,980
(13,577) (16,199)
(39,438) (29,927)
10 @3,737) (2,318)
10 400 10,824
10 (299) -
- (4,642)
- 4,641
- an
4,321 4,034
13 7,374 6,507
17 4,011 3,006
4,028 1,244
6,496 7,288
13 - 173
- 6,052
10,030 29,652
(21,662) 11,960
(22,140) (30,836)
584 10,971
56,657 34,639
(13,592) 13,506
17,390 (27,948)
(185) (185)
17 (3,761) (1,256)
(7,978) (5,403)
15,343 35,100
26,810 5,621
- (105,289)
(13,692) -
(37,540) -
3,887 -
481 (138)
12 (2,451) (1,655)
11 (106) -
13 (2,698) (7,011)
27 1,051
1,141 1,352
39,065 29,927
3,094 2,504
10 2,736 2,154
400 396
10 10,405 -
- 221
- (566)
31,559 (71,433)
(2,222) (1,843)
(2,250) (4,961)
(6,190) (7,288)
1,598 -
(205) -
(2,582) (2,893)
18 (10,529) (14,938)
(4,766) (2,624)
(27,146) (34,547)
19,756 (70,880)
153,323 227,748
(12,232) (3,545
5 160,847 153,323

The attached notes 1 to 31 form part of this consolidated financial statements.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements of Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. (the “Parent Company”) and subsidiaries
(the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of
the directors on 27 March 2025. The ordinary general assembly of the shareholders of the Parent Company has
the power to amend these consolidated financial statements after issuance.

The Parent Company was incorporated as a Kuwaiti Shareholding Company in accordance with the Amiri Decree
No. 25 of 9 April 1962 and is listed on Boursa Kuwait. The Parent Company's objectives include all types of
insurance, indemnities, compensations and investing its capital and assets in various financial and real estate
investments, both locally and abroad.

The Parent Company is 97.06% (31 December 2023: 90.01%) owned by Fairfax financial holding limited.

The address of the Parent Company’s registered office is Khaled Ibn Al-Waleed Street, KIPCO Tower, Floor No
40, Office No 1 & 2, Shark, Kuwait City P.O. Box 1040 Safat, 13011 State of Kuwait.

The Group employs 4,059 employees as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 3,984 employees).
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost convention except for the
measurement at fair value of investments carried at fair value through profit or loss, investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income, investment properties and land and buildings that classified as property and
equipment.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars, all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (KD 000), except when otherwise indicated, which is the functional and reporting currency of the Parent
Company.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expense
will not be offset in the consolidated statement of income unless required or permitted by any accounting standard
or interpretation, as specifically disclosed in the accounting policies of the Group.

The Group has prepared the consolidated financial statements on the basis that it will continue to operate as a
going concern.

The Group presents its consolidated statement of financial position broadly in order of liquidity based on the
Group’s intention and perceived ability to recover/settle the majority of assets/liabilities of the corresponding
financial statement line item. An analysis regarding recovery or settlement within 12 months after the reporting
date (current) and more than 12 months after the reporting date (non-current) is presented in note 24.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are consistent with
those followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023, except for the adoption of new standards effective as of 1 January 2024. The Group has not early
adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.

Supplier Finance Arrangements - Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7

The amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of such arrangements. The
disclosure requirements in the amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding
the effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk.

The Group has not entered into any supplier finance arrangements and accordingly, the amendments had no impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and amendments to accounting standards have been published that are not
mandatory for 31 December 2024 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the group. The group’s
assessment of the impact of these new standards and amendments is set out below:

(a) Amendments to IAS 21 -- Lack of Exchangeability (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2025)
In August 2023, the IASB amended IAS 21 to help entities to determine whether a currency is

exchangeable into another currency, and which spot exchange rate to use when it is not.

The Group does not expect these amendments to have a material impact on its operations or consolidated
financial statements.

(b) Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments — Amendments to [FRS 9
and IFRS 7 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026)
On 30 May 2024, the IASB issued targeted amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 to respond to recent
questions arising in practice, and to include new requirements not only for financial institutions but
also for corporate entities. These amendments:
« clarify the date of recognition and derecognition of some financial assets and liabilities, with a new
exception for some financial liabilities settled through an electronic cash transfer system;
« clarify and add further guidance for assessing whether a financial asset meets the solely payments of
principal and interest (SPPI) criterion;
« add new disclosures for certain instruments with contractual terms that can change cashflows (such as
some financial instruments with features linked to the achievement of environment, social and
governance targets); and
« update the disclosures for equity instruments

The Group does not expect these amendments to have a material impact on its operations or
consolidated financial statements.

(c) IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures (effective for annual periods

beginning on or after 1 January 2027)
Issued in May 2024, IFRS 19 allows for certain eligible subsidiaries of parent entities that report under

IFRS Accounting Standards to apply reduced disclosure requirements.

The Group does not expect this standard to have an impact on its operations or consolidated financial
statements.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued)

(d) IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements (effective for annual periods beginning on

or after 1 January 2027)

IFRS 18 will replace IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements, introducing new requirements that will
help to achieve comparability of the financial performance of similar entities and provide more relevant
information and transparency to users. Even though IFRS 18 will not impact the recognition or
measurement of items in the financial statements, its impacts on presentation and disclosure are
expected to be pervasive, in particular those related to the statement of financial performance and
providing management-defined performance measures within the financial statements.

Management is currently assessing the detailed implications of applying the new standard on the group’s
consolidated financial statements. The group will apply the new standard from its mandatory effective
date of 1 January 2027. Retrospective application is required, and so the comparative information for the
financial year ending 31 December 2026 will be restated in accordance with IFRS 18.

2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and its
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023. Subsidiaries are investee that the Group has control over.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control,
and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee.

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:
Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee);
Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee

Rights arising from other contractual arrangements

Parent’s Company voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities,
equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent Company,
using consistent accounting policies. All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses resulting
from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

2 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in
a deficit balance. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as
an equity transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

Derecognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;

Derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;

Derecognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

Recognises the fair value of any investment retained,

Recognises any surplus or deficit in the consolidated statement of income;

Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income to

consolidated statement of income or retained earnings, as appropriate.

2.3 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Product classification

Insurance contracts

Insurance contracts are those contracts when the Group (the insurer) has accepted significant insurance risk from
another party (the policyholders) by agreeing to compensate the policyholders if a specified uncertain future event
(the insured event) adversely affects the policyholders. As a general guideline, the Group determines whether it
has significant insurance risk, by comparing benefits payable after an insured event with benefits payable if the
insured event did not occur. Insurance contracts can also transfer financial risk.

Investment contracts

Investment contracts are those contracts that transfer significant financial risk, but not significant insurance risk.
Financial risk is the risk of a possible future change in one or more of a specified interest rate, financial instrument
price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of price or rates, a credit rating or credit index or other
variable, provided in the case of a non—financial variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether it measures the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in general and administrative expenses.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date through consolidated statement
of income.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instrument and
within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. Other contingent consideration that is not
within the scope of IFRS 9 is measured at fair value at each reporting date with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

2.3 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is
recognised in consolidated statement of income.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each
of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured
based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Definition and classification
Contracts that have a legal form of insurance but do not transfer significant insurance risk and expose the Group
to financial risk are classified as investment contracts and follow financial instruments accounting under IFRS 9.
Some investment contracts without Direct Participation Feature (DPF) issued by the Group fall under this
category. Some investment contracts issued by the Group contain DPF, whereby the investor has the right and is
expected to receive, as a supplement to the amount not subject to the Group’s discretion, potentially significant
additional benefits based on the return of specified pools of investment assets. The Group accounts for these
contracts under IFRS 17. The Group issues certain insurance contracts that are substantially investment-related
service contracts where the return on the underlying items is shared with policyholders. Underlying items
comprise specified portfolios of investment assets that determine amounts payable to policyholders. The Group’s
policy is to hold such investment assets. An insurance contract with direct participation features is defined by the
Group as one which, at inception, meets the following criteria:
» the contractual terms specify that the policyholders participate in a share of a clearly identified pool of
underlying items;
» the Group expects to pay to the policyholder an amount equal to a substantial share of the fair value
returns on the underlying items; and
» the Group expects a substantial proportion of any change in the amounts to be paid to the policyholder
to vary with the change in fair value of the underlying items.

Investment components in savings and participating products comprise policyholder account values less
applicable surrender fees. The Group uses judgement to assess whether the amounts expected to be paid to the
policyholders constitute a substantial share of the fair value returns on the underlying items. Insurance contracts
with direct participation features are viewed as creating an obligation to pay policyholders an amount that is equal
to the fair value of the underlying items, less a variable fee for service. The variable fee comprises the Group’s
share of the fair value of the underlying items, which is based on a fixed percentage of investment management
fees (withdrawn from policyholder account values based on the fair value of underlying assets and specified in
the contracts with policyholders) less the FCF that do not vary based on the returns on underlying items. The
measurement approach for insurance contracts with direct participation features is referred to as the VFA. The
VFA modifies the accounting model in IFRS 17 (referred to as the GMM) to reflect that the consideration an
entity receives for the contracts is a variable fee. Direct participating contracts issued by the Group are contracts
with direct participation features where the Group holds the pool of underlying assets and accounts for these
Groups of contracts under the VFA.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

2.3 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

Fair Value changes on Unit-Linked Investments

Fair value changes on unit-linked investments have been included within the "Finance income/ expenses from
insurance contracts issued" section to the consolidated statement of income. These changes are directly related to
insurance contracts issued and may not represent realized gains/losses on investments. Their presentation aims to
provide a more comprehensive view of the Group’s financial performance. All other insurance contracts
originated by the Group are without direct participation features. In the normal course of business, the Group uses
reinsurance to mitigate its risk exposures. A reinsurance contract transfers significant risk if it transfers
substantially all the insurance risk resulting from the insured portion of the underlying insurance contracts, even
if it does not expose the reinsurer to the possibility of a significant loss. All references to insurance contracts in
these consolidated financial statements apply to insurance contracts issued or acquired, reinsurance contracts held
and investment contracts with DPF, unless specifically stated otherwise.

Level of Aggregation

The Group manages insurance contracts issued by product lines within an operating segment, where each product
line includes contracts that are subject to similar risks. All insurance contracts within a product line represent a
portfolio of contracts. Each portfolio is further disaggregated into Groups of contracts that are issued within a
calendar year (annual cohorts) and are:

e  contracts that are onerous at initial recognition

e  contracts that at initial recognition have no significant possibility of becoming onerous subsequently; or

e a Group of remaining contracts. These Groups represent the level of aggregation at which insurance
contracts are initially recognized and measured. Such Groups are not subsequently reconsidered.

For each portfolio of contracts, the Group determines the appropriate level at which reasonable and supportable
information is available to assess whether these contracts are onerous at initial recognition and whether non-
onerous contracts have a significant possibility of becoming onerous. This level of granularity determines sets of
contracts. The Group uses significant judgement to determine at what level of granularity the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that is sufficient to conclude that all contracts within a set are sufficiently
homogeneous and will be allocated to the same Group without performing an individual contract assessment.

For life risk and savings product lines, sets of contracts usually correspond to policyholder pricing Groups that
the Group determined to have similar insurance risk and that are priced within the same insurance rate ranges.
The Group monitors the profitability of contracts within portfolios and the likelihood of changes in insurance,
financial and other exposures resulting in these contracts becoming onerous at the level of these pricing Groups
with no information available at a more granular level.

Contracts issued within participating product lines are always priced with high expected profitability margins, and
thus, such contracts are allocated to Groups of contracts that have no significant possibility of becoming onerous
at the time of initial recognition.

Portfolios of reinsurance contracts held are assessed for aggregation separately from portfolios of insurance
contracts issued.

Before the Group accounts for an insurance contract based on the guidance in IFRS 17, it analyses whether the
contract contains components that should be separated. IFRS 17 distinguishes three categories of components that
have to be accounted for separately:

e cash flows relating to embedded derivatives that are required to be separated;
e  cash flows relating to distinct investment components; and
e promises to transfer distinct goods or distinct non-insurance services.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

2.3 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

Recognition
Groups of insurance contracts issued are initially recognized from the earliest of the following:
e the beginning of the coverage period;
e the date when the first payment from the policyholder is due or actually received, if there is no due date;
and,
e when the Group determines that a Group of contracts becomes onerous.

Insurance contracts acquired in a business combination, or a portfolio transfer are accounted for as if they were
entered into at the date of acquisition or transfer.

Investment contracts with DPF are initially recognized at the date the Group becomes a party to the contract.

A Group of reinsurance contracts held that covers the losses of separate insurance contracts on a proportionate
basis (proportionate or quota share reinsurance) is recognized at the later of:

e the beginning of the coverage period of the group; or
e the initial recognition of any underlying insurance contract.

The Group does not recognize a group of quota share reinsurance contracts held until it has recognized at least
one of the underlying insurance contracts.

A Group of reinsurance contracts held that covers aggregate losses from underlying contracts in excess of a
specified amount (non-proportionate reinsurance contracts, such as excess of loss reinsurance) is recognized at
the beginning of the coverage period of that Group.

Only contracts that meet the recognition criteria by the end of the reporting period are included in the Groups.
When contracts meet the recognition criteria in the Groups after the reporting date, they are added to the Groups
in the reporting period in which they meet the recognition criteria, subject to the annual cohorts’ restriction.
Composition of the Groups is not reassessed in subsequent periods.

Contract modification and derecognition
An insurance contract is derecognized when it is:
e extinguished (i.e., when the obligation specified in the insurance contract expires or is discharged or
cancelled); or
e the contract is modified, and certain additional criteria are met.

When an insurance contract is modified by the Group as a result of an agreement with the counterparties or due
to a change in regulations, the Group treats changes in cash flows caused by the modification as changes in
estimates of the FCF, unless the conditions for the derecognition of the original contract are met. The Group
derecognizes the original contract and recognizes the modified contract as a new contract if any of the following
conditions are present:

a. if the modified terms had been included at contract inception and the Group would have concluded that
the modified contract:
i. isnotin scope of IFRS 17,
ii.  results in different separable components;
iii. results in a different contract boundary; or
iv. belongs to a different group of contracts;

b. the original contract represents an insurance contract with direct participation features, but the
modified contract no longer meets that definition, or vice versa; or

c. the original contract was accounted for under the PAA, but the modification means that the contract no
longer meets the eligibility criteria for that approach.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

2.3 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

Contract modification and derecognition (continued)
When an insurance contract not accounted for under the PAA is derecognized from within a Group of insurance
contracts, the group:

a.  Adjusts the FCF to eliminate the present value of future cash flows and risk adjustment for non- financial
risk relating to the rights and obligations removed from the Group.
b. Adjusts the CSM (unless the decrease in the FCF is allocated to the loss component of the LRC of the

Group) in the following manner, depending on the reason for the derecognition:

i.  If the contract is extinguished, in the same amount as the adjustment to the FCF relating to future
service.

ii. If the contract is transferred to a third party, in the amount of the FCF adjustment in (a) less the
premium charged by the third party.

iii. If'the original contract is modified resulting in its derecognition, in the amount of the FCF adjustment
in a. adjusted for the premium the Group would have charged had it entered into a contract with
equivalent terms as the new contract at the date of the contract modification, less any additional
premium charged for the modification. When recognizing the new contract in this case, the Group
assumes such a hypothetical premium as actually received.

c. Adjusts the number of coverage units for the expected remaining coverage to reflect the number of
coverage units removed.

When an insurance contract accounted for under the PAA is derecognized, adjustments to the FCF to remove
relating rights and obligations and account for the effect of the derecognition result in the following amounts being
charged immediately to profit or loss:

a. if the contract is extinguished, any net difference between the derecognized part of the LRC of the
original contract and any other cash flows arising from extinguishment;

b. if the contract is transferred to the third party, any net difference between the derecognized part of the
LRC of the original contract and the premium charged by the third party;

c. if the original contract is modified resulting in its derecognition, any net difference between the
derecognized part of the LRC and the hypothetical premium the entity would have charged had it entered
into a contract with equivalent terms as the new contract at the date of the contract modification, less any
additional premium charged for the modification.

Fulfilment cash flows

Fulfilment cash flows within contract boundary

The FCF are the current estimates of the future cash flows within the contract boundary of a Group of contracts
that the Group expects to collect from premiums and pay out for claims, benefits and expenses, adjusted to reflect
the timing and the uncertainty of those amounts.

The estimates of future cash flows:
(a) are based on a probability weighted mean of the full range of possible outcomes.
(b) are determined from the perspective of the Group, provided the estimates are consistent with observable
market prices for market variables; and
(c) reflect conditions existing at the measurement date.

An explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk is estimated separately from the other estimates. For contracts
measured under the PAA, unless the contracts are onerous, the explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk is
only estimated for the measurement of the LIC.

The estimates of future cash flows are adjusted using the current discount rates to reflect the time value of money
and the financial risks related to those cash flows, to the extent not included in the estimates of cash flows. The
discount rates reflect the characteristics of the cash flows arising from the Groups of insurance contracts, including
timing, currency and liquidity of cash flows. The determination of the discount rate that reflects the characteristics
of the cash flows and liquidity characteristics of the insurance contracts requires significant judgement and
estimation

20



Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

2.3 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

Fulfilment cash flows (continued)
Risk of the Group’s non-performance is not included in the measurement of Groups of insurance contracts issued.

In the measurement of reinsurance contracts held, the probability weighted estimates of the present value of future
cash flows include the potential credit losses and other disputes of the reinsurer to reflect the non-performance
risk of the reinsurer.

The Group estimates certain FCF at the portfolio level or higher and then allocates such estimates to Groups of
contracts. The Group uses consistent assumptions to measure the estimates of the present value of future cash
flows for the group of reinsurance contracts held and such estimates for the Groups of underlying insurance
contracts.

Contract boundary
The Group uses the concept of contract boundary to determine what cash flows should be considered in the
measurement of Groups of insurance contracts. This assessment is reviewed every reporting period.

Cash flows are within the boundary of an insurance contract if they arise from the rights and obligations that exist
during the period in which the policyholder is obligated to pay premiums, or the Group has a substantive obligation
to provide the policyholder with insurance coverage or other services. A substantive obligation ends when:
a) the Group has the practical ability to reprice the risks of the particular policyholder or change the level
of benefits so that the price fully reflects those risks; or
b) both of the following criteria are satisfied:
i.  the Group has the practical ability to reprice the contract or a portfolio of contracts so that the price
fully reflects the reassessed risk of that portfolio; and
ii. the pricing of premiums related to coverage to the date when risks are reassessed does not reflect the
risks related to periods beyond the reassessment date.

In assessing the practical ability to reprice, risks transferred from the policyholder to the Group, such as insurance
risk and financial risk, are considered; other risks, such as lapse or surrender and expense risk, are not included.

Riders, representing add-on provisions to a basic insurance policy that provide additional benefits to the
policyholder at additional cost, that are issued together with the main insurance contracts form part of a single
insurance contract with all the cash flows within its boundary.

Cash flows outside the insurance contracts boundary relate to future insurance contracts and are recognized when
those contracts meet the recognition criteria.

Cash flows are within the boundaries of investment contracts with DPF if they result from a substantive obligation
of the Group to deliver cash at a present or future date.

For groups of reinsurance contracts held, cash flows are within the contract boundary if they arise from substantive
rights and obligations of the Group that exist during the reporting period in which the Group is compelled to pay
amounts to the reinsurer or in which the Group has a substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer.

The Group’s quota-share life reinsurance agreements held have an unlimited duration but are cancellable for new
underlying business with a one-year notice period by either party. Thus, the Group treats such reinsurance
contracts as a series of annual contracts that cover underlying business issued within a year. Estimates of future
cash flows arising from all underlying contracts issued and expected to be issued within a one-year boundary are
included in each of the reinsurance contracts’ measurement.

The excess of loss reinsurance contracts held provides coverage for claims incurred during an accident year. Thus,
all cash flows arising from claims incurred and expected to be incurred in the accident year are included in the
measurement of the reinsurance contracts held. Some of these contracts may include mandatory or voluntary
reinstatement reinsurance premiums, which are guaranteed per the contractual arrangements and are thus within
the respective reinsurance contracts’ boundaries.

Cash flows that are not directly attributable to a portfolio of insurance contracts, such as some product
development and training costs, are recognized in other operating expenses as incurred.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

Measurement Model Application

The Group applies the Premium Allocation Approach (PAA) to all the insurance contracts that it issues and
reinsurance contracts that it holds for which the coverage period is less than one year. For other contracts issued
and held where the coverage period is more than one year, the Group performs PAA Eligibility testing as disclosed
in Note 2.3 to confirm whether the PAA may be applied. Subject to passing the PAA eligibility testing, the Group
applied PAA on contract issued and reinsurance contracts held that pass the testing.

When measuring liabilities for remaining coverage (LRC), the PAA is broadly similar to the Group’s previous
accounting treatment under IFRS 4. However, when measuring liabilities for incurred claims, the Group now
discounts cash flows that are expected to occur more than one year after the date on which the claims are incurred
and includes an explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk.

Initial measurement — Groups of contracts not measured under the PAA - contractual service margin
(CSM)

The CSM is a component of the carrying amount of the asset or liability for a Group of insurance contracts issued
representing the unearned profit that the Group will recognize as it provides coverage in the future.

At initial recognition, the CSM is an amount that results in no income or expenses (unless a Group of contracts is
onerous) arising from:
a) the initial recognition of the FCF;
b) the derecognition at the date of initial recognition of any asset or liability recognized for insurance
acquisition cash flows; and
¢) cash flows arising from the contracts in the Group at that date.

A negative CSM at the date of inception means the group of insurance contracts issued is onerous. A loss from
onerous insurance contracts is recognized in the consolidated statement of income immediately with no CSM
recognized on the balance sheet on initial recognition.

For groups of reinsurance contracts held, any net gain or loss at initial recognition is recognized as the CSM unless
the net cost of purchasing reinsurance relates to past events, in which case the Group recognizes the net cost
immediately in the consolidated statement of income. For reinsurance contracts held, the CSM represents a
deferred gain or loss that the Group will recognize as a reinsurance expense as it receives reinsurance coverage in
the future.

For insurance contracts acquired through business combination, at initial recognition, the CSM is an amount that
results in no income or expenses arising from:
a) the initial recognition of the FCF; and
b) cash flows arising from the contracts in the Group at that date, including the fair value of the groups of
contracts acquired at the acquisition date as a proxy of the premiums received.

Subsequent measurement — Groups of contracts not measured under the PAA
The carrying amount at the end of each reporting period of a group of insurance contracts issued is the sum of:
a) the LRC, comprising:
i.  the FCF related to future service allocated to the Group at that date; and
ii. the CSM of the Group at that date; and
b) the LIC, comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the Group at the reporting date.

Changes in fulfilment cash flows
The FCF are updated by the Group for current assumptions at the end of every reporting period, using the current
estimates of the amount, timing and uncertainty of future cash flows and of discount rates.

The way in which the changes in estimates of the FCF are treated depends on which estimate is being updated:
a) changes that relate to current or past service are recognized in the consolidated statement of income; and
b) changes that relate to future service are recognized by adjusting the CSM or the loss component within
the LRC as per the policy below.
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IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)
Changes in fulfilment cash flows (continued)

For insurance contracts under the GMM, the following adjustments relate to future service and thus adjust the
CSM:

a) experience adjustments arising from premiums received in the period that relate to future service and
related cash flows such as insurance acquisition cash flows and premium-based taxes;

b) changes in estimates of the present value of future cash flows in the LRC, except those described in the
following paragraph;

¢) differences between any investment component expected to become payable in the period and the actual
investment component that becomes payable in the period; and

d) changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk that relate to future service.

Adjustments a, b and ¢ above are measured using the locked-in discount rates as described in the section Interest
accretion on the CSM below.

For insurance contracts under the GMM, the following adjustments do not relate to future service and thus do not

adjust the CSM:
a) changes in the FCF for the effect of the time value of money and the effect of financial risk and changes
thereof;

b) changes in the FCF relating to the LIC; and
¢) experience adjustments relating to insurance service expenses (excluding insurance acquisition cash
flows).

For investment contracts with DPF that are measured under the GMM and provide the Group with discretion as
to the timing and amount of the cash flows to be paid to the policyholders, a change in discretionary cash flows is
regarded as relating to future service and accordingly adjusts the CSM. At inception of such contracts, the Group
specifies its commitment as crediting interest to the policyholder’s account balance based on the return on a pool
of assets less a spread. The effect of discretionary changes in the spread on the FCF adjusts the CSM while the
effect of changes in assumptions that relate to financial risk on this commitment are reflected in insurance finance
income or expenses.

When no commitment is specified, the effect of all changes in assumptions that relate to financial risk and changes
thereof on the FCF is recognized in insurance finance expenses.

For insurance contracts under the VFA, the following adjustments relate to future service and thus adjust the CSM:
a) changes in the Group’s share of the fair value of the underlying items; and
b) changes in the FCF that do not vary based on the returns of underlying items:
i.  changes in the effect of the time value of money and financial risks including the effect of financial
guarantees;
ii. experience adjustments arising from premiums received in the period that relate to future service
and related cash flows such as insurance acquisition cash flows and premium-based taxes;
iii. changes in estimates of the present value of future cash flows in the LRC, except those described in
the following paragraph;
iv. differences between any investment component expected to become payable in the period and the
actual investment component that becomes payable in the period; and
v. changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk that relate to future service. Adjustments ii.-v.
are measured using the current discount rates.

For insurance contracts under the VFA, the following adjustments do not relate to future service and thus do not

adjust the CSM:
a) changes in the obligation to pay the policyholder the amount equal to the fair value of the underlying
items;

b) changes in the FCF that do not vary based on the returns of underlying items:
i.  changes in the FCF relating to the LIC; and
ii. experience adjustments relating to insurance service expenses (excluding insurance acquisition cash
flows).

The Group does not have any products with complex guarantees and does not use derivatives to economically
hedge the risks.
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23 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)

Changes to the contractual service margin
For insurance contracts issued, at the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of the CSM is adjusted
by the Group to reflect the effect of the following changes:
a) The effect of any new contracts added to the Group.
b) For contracts measured under the GMM, interest accreted on the carrying amount of the CSM.
¢) Changes in the FCF relating to future service are recognized by adjusting the CSM. Changes in the FCF
are recognized in the CSM to the extent the CSM is available. When an increase in the FCF exceeds the
carrying amount of the CSM, the CSM is reduced to zero, the excess is recognized in insurance service
expenses and a loss component is recognized within the LRC. When the CSM is zero, changes in the
FCF adjust the loss component within the LRC with correspondence to insurance service expenses. The
excess of any decrease in the FCF over the loss component reduces the loss component to zero and
reinstates the CSM.
d) The effect of any currency exchange differences.
e) The amount recognized as insurance revenue for services provided during the period determined after all
other adjustments above.

For a group of reinsurance contracts held, the carrying amount of the CSM at the end of each reporting period is
adjusted to reflect changes in the FCF in the same manner as a group of underlying insurance contracts issued,
except that when underlying contracts are onerous and thus changes in the underlying FCF related to future service
are recognized in insurance service expenses by adjusting the loss component, respective changes in the FCF of
reinsurance contracts held are also recognized in the insurance service result.

Interest accretion on the CSM

Under the GMM, interest is accreted on the CSM using discount rates determined at initial recognition that are
applied to nominal cash flows that do not vary based on the returns of underlying items (locked-in discount rates).
If more contracts are added to the existing Groups in the subsequent reporting periods, the Group revises the
locked- in discount curves by calculating weighted-average discount curves over the period that contracts in the
Group are issued. The weighted-average discount curves are determined by multiplying the new CSM added to
the Group and their corresponding discount curves over the total CSM.

Adjusting the CSM for changes in the FCF relating to future service
The CSM is adjusted for changes in the FCF measured applying the discount rates as specified above in the
Changes in fulfilment cash flows section.

Release of the CSM to statement of income

The amount of the CSM recognized in the consolidated statement of income for services in the period is
determined by the allocation of the CSM remaining at the end of the reporting period over the current and
remaining expected coverage period of the group of insurance contracts based on coverage units.

For contracts issued, the Group determines the coverage period for the CSM recognition as follows:
a) for term life and universal life insurance contracts, the coverage period corresponds to the policy coverage
for mortality risk; and
b) for direct participating contracts and for investment contracts with DPF, the coverage period corresponds
to the period in which insurance or investment management services are expected to be provided.

The total number of coverage units in a group is the quantity of coverage provided by the contracts in the group
over the expected coverage period. The coverage units are determined at each reporting period-end prospectively
by considering:
a) the quantity of benefits provided by contracts in the Group;
b) the expected coverage duration of contracts in the Group; and
c) the likelihood of insured events occurring, only to the extent that they affect the expected duration of
contracts in the Group.
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IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)
Release of the CSM to statement of income (continued)

The Group uses the amount that it expects the policyholder to be able to validly claim in each period if an insured
event occurs as the basis for the quantity of benefits.

The Group determines coverage units as follows:
a) for term life and universal life insurance contracts, coverage units are determined based on the policies’ face
values that are equal to the fixed death benefit amounts;
b) for direct participating contracts, coverage units are based on the fixed death benefits amounts (during the
insurance coverage period) plus policyholders” account values;
¢) forinvestment contracts with DPF, coverage units are based on policyholders’ account values

For reinsurance contracts held, the CSM is released to profit or loss as services are received from the reinsurer in
the period.

Coverage units for the proportionate term life reinsurance contracts are based on the insurance coverage provided
by the reinsurer and are determined by the ceded policies’ fixed face values taking into account new business
projected within the reinsurance contract boundary.

The coverage period for these contracts is determined based on the coverage of all underlying contracts whose
cash flows are included in the reinsurance contract boundary. Refer to the Contract boundary section stated above.

Onerous contracts — Loss component on GMM/VFA
When adjustments to the CSM exceed the amount of the CSM, the group of contracts becomes onerous, and the
Group recognizes the excess in insurance service expenses and records it as a loss component of the LRC.

When a loss component exists, the Group allocates the following between the loss component and the remaining
component of the LRC for the respective group of contracts, based on the ratio of the loss component to the FCF
relating to the expected future cash outflows:

a) expected incurred claims and expenses for the period,;

b) changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk for the risk expired; and

¢) finance income (expenses) from insurance contracts issued.

The amounts of loss component allocation in a. and b. above reduce the respective components of insurance
revenue and are reflected in insurance service expenses.

Decreases in the FCF in subsequent periods reduce the remaining loss component and reinstate the CSM after the
loss component is reduced to zero. Increases in the FCF in subsequent periods increase the loss component.

Initial and subsequent measurement — Groups of contracts measured under the PAA
The Group uses the PAA for measuring contracts with a coverage period of one year or less and on contracts that
pass the eligibility testing as stated above.

The excess of loss reinsurance contracts held provide coverage on the insurance contracts originated for claims
incurred during an accident year and are accounted for under the PAA.

For insurance contracts issued, on initial recognition, the Group measures the LRC at the amount of premiums
received, less any acquisition cash flows paid and any amounts arising from the derecognition of the prepaid
acquisition cash flows asset.

For reinsurance contracts held on initial recognition, the Group measures the remaining coverage at the amount
of ceding premiums paid.

The carrying amount of a group of insurance contracts issued at the end of each reporting period is the sum of:
a) the LRC;and
b) the LIC, comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the group at the reporting date.
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IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)
Initial and subsequent measurement — Groups of contracts measured under the PAA (continued)

The carrying amount of a group of reinsurance contracts held at the end of each reporting period is the sum of:
¢) the remaining coverage; and
d) the incurred claims, comprising the FCF related to past service allocated to the group at the reporting
date.

For insurance contracts issued, at each of the subsequent reporting dates, the LRC is:
a) increased for premiums received in the period;
b) decreased for insurance acquisition cash flows paid in the period,
¢) decreased for the amounts of expected premiums received recognized as insurance revenue for the
services provided in the period; and
d) increased for the amortization of insurance acquisition cash flows in the period recognized as insurance
service expenses.

For reinsurance contracts held, at each of the subsequent reporting dates, the remaining coverage is:
a) increased for ceding premiums paid in the period; and
b) decreased for the amounts of ceding premiums recognized as reinsurance expenses for the services
received in the period.

The Group does not adjust the LRC for insurance contracts issued and the remaining coverage for reinsurance
contracts held for the effect of the time value of money as insurance premiums are due within the coverage of
contracts, which is one year or less

For contracts measured under the PAA, the LIC is measured similarly to the LIC’s measurement under the GMM.
Future cash flows are adjusted for the time value of money since insurance contracts issued by the Group and
measured under the PAA typically have a settlement period of over one year.

Onerous contracts — Loss component on PAA
For all contracts measured under PA A, the Group assumes that no such contracts are onerous at initial recognition,
unless facts and circumstances indicate otherwise.

For non-onerous contracts, the Group assesses the likelihood of changes in the applicable facts and circumstances
in the subsequent periods in determining whether contracts have a significant possibility of becoming onerous.

In addition, if facts and circumstances indicate that some contracts are onerous, an additional assessment is
performed to distinguish onerous contracts from non-onerous ones. Once a group of contracts is determined as
onerous on initial or subsequent assessment, loss is recognized immediately in the consolidated statement of
income in insurance service expense.

The loss component is then amortized to the consolidated statement of income over the coverage period to offset
incurred claims in insurance service expense. If facts and circumstances indicate that the expected profitability of
the onerous group during the remaining coverage has changed, then the Group remeasures the same and adjusts
the loss component as required until the loss component is reduced to zero. The loss component is measured on a
gross basis but may be mitigated by a loss recovery component if the contracts are covered by reinsurance.

Insurance acquisition costs
The Group includes the following acquisition cash flows within the insurance contract boundary that arise from
selling, underwriting and starting a group of insurance contracts and that are:

a) costs directly attributable to individual contracts and groups of contracts; and
b) costs directly attributable to the portfolio of insurance contracts to which the group belongs, which are
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to measure the group of insurance contracts.
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IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (continued)
Insurance acquisition costs (continued)

Before a group of insurance contracts is recognized, the Group could pay directly attributable acquisition costs to
originate them. When such prepaid costs are refundable in case of insurance contracts termination, they are
recorded as a prepaid insurance acquisition cash flows asset within other assets and allocated to the carrying
amount of a group of insurance contracts when the insurance contracts are subsequently recognized.

The acquisition costs are generally capitalized and recognized in the consolidated statement of income over the
life of the contracts.

Risk adjustment for non-financial risk

The risk adjustment for non-financial risk is applied to the present value of the estimated future cash flows, and it
reflects the compensation that the Group requires for bearing the uncertainty about the amount and timing of the
cash flows from non-financial risk as the Group fulfils insurance contracts.

The Group has chosen a confidence level in the range of the 70th to 80th percentile of the distribution of the claim
reserves, considering the confidence level is adequate to cover sources of uncertainty about the amount and timing
of the cash flows.

For reinsurance contracts held, the risk adjustment for non-financial risk represents the amount of risk being
transferred by the Group to the reinsurer

Amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for Insurance service result from
insurance contracts issued

Insurance revenue

As the Group provides services under the group of insurance contracts, it reduces the LRC and recognizes
insurance revenue. The amount of insurance revenue recognized in the reporting period depicts the transfer of
promised services at an amount that reflects the portion of consideration the Group expects to be entitled to in
exchange for those services.

For contracts not measured under the PAA, insurance revenue comprises the following:

*  Amounts relating to the changes in the LRC:

a. insurance claims and expenses incurred in the period measured at the amounts expected at the beginning
of the period, excluding:
i.  amounts related to the loss component;
ii. repayments of investment components;
iii. amounts of transaction-based taxes collected in a fiduciary capacity; and
iv. insurance acquisition expenses;

b. changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk, excluding:
i. changes included in insurance finance income (expenses);
ii. changes that relate to future coverage (which adjust the CSM); and
iii. amounts allocated to the loss component;

c. amounts of the CSM recognized in statement of income for the services provided in the period; and

d. experience adjustments arising from premiums received in the period that relate to past and current
service and related cash flows such as insurance acquisition cash flows and premium-based taxes.

» Insurance acquisition cash flows recovery is determined by allocating the portion of premiums related to
the recovery of those cash flows on the basis of the passage of time over the expected coverage of a
group of contracts.

For groups of insurance contracts measured under the PAA, the Group recognizes insurance revenue based on the
passage of time over the coverage period of a Group of contracts.

Insurance revenue is adjusted to allow for policyholders’ default on future premiums. The default probability is
derived from the expected loss model prescribed under IFRS 9.
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Insurance service expenses

Insurance service expenses include the following:
a) incurred claims and benefits excluding investment components;
b) other incurred directly attributable insurance service expenses;
¢) Insurance acquisitions costs incurred and amortization of insurance acquisition cash flows;
d) changes that relate to past service (i.e. changes in the FCF relating to the LIC); and
e) changes that relate to future service (i.e. losses/reversals on onerous groups of contracts from changes in
the loss components).

For contracts not measured under the PAA, amortization of insurance acquisition cash flows is reflected in
insurance service expenses in the same amount as insurance acquisition cash flows recovery reflected within
insurance revenue as described above.

For contracts measured under the PAA, amortization of insurance acquisition cash flows is based on the passage
of time.

Other expenses not meeting the above categories are included in other operating expenses in the statement of
income.

Amounts recognized in comprehensive income for Insurance service result from reinsurance contracts held

Net income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held

The Group presents financial performance of groups of reinsurance contracts held on a net basis between the
amounts recoverable from reinsurers and allocation of the premiums for reinsurance contracts held, comprising
the following amounts:

a) reinsurance expenses (net of reinsurance premium-related commission income);

b) incurred claims recovery;

¢) other incurred directly attributable insurance service expenses;

d) effect of changes in risk of reinsurer non-performance;

e) for contracts measured under the GMM, changes that relate to future service (i.e. changes in the FCF that
do not adjust the CSM for the group of underlying insurance contracts); and

f) changes relating to past service (i.e. adjustments to incurred claims).

Reinsurance expenses are recognized similarly to insurance revenue. The amount of reinsurance expenses
recognized in the reporting period depicts the transfer of received services at an amount that reflects the portion
of ceding premiums the Group expects to pay in exchange for those services.

For contracts not measured under the PAA, reinsurance expenses comprise the following amounts relating to
changes in the remaining coverage:

a) insurance claims and other expenses recovery in the period measured at the amounts expected to be
incurred at the beginning of the period, excluding repayments of investment components.

b) changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk, excluding:
- changes included in finance income (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held; and
- changes that relate to future coverage (which adjust the CSM);

¢) amounts of the CSM recognized in statement of income for the services received in the period; and

d) ceded premium experience adjustments relating to past and current service.

For groups of reinsurance contracts held measured under the PAA, the Group recognizes reinsurance expenses
based on the passage of time over the coverage period of a group of contracts.

Ceding commissions that are not contingent on claims of the underlying contracts issued reduce ceding premiums
and are accounted for as part of reinsurance expenses.

28



Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

2.3 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Insurance finance income or expenses
Insurance finance income or expenses comprise the change in the carrying amount of the group of insurance
contracts arising from:

a) the effect of the time value of money and changes in the time value of money; and

b) the effect of financial risk and changes in financial risk.

For contracts measured under the GMM, the main amounts within insurance finance income or expenses are:
a) interest accreted on the FCF and the CSM;
b) the effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions; and
¢) foreign exchange differences arising from contracts denominated in a foreign currency.

For contracts measured under the VFA, the main amounts within insurance finance income or expenses are:
a) changes in the fair value of underlying items;
b) interest accreted on the FCF relating to cash flows that do not vary with returns on underlying items; and
c) the effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions on the FCF relating to cash flows
that do not vary with returns on underlying items.

For contracts measured under the PAA, the main amounts within insurance finance income or expenses are:
a) interest accreted on the LIC; and
b) the effect of changes in interest rates and other financial assumptions.

The Group disaggregates changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk between insurance service result
and insurance finance income or expenses.

The Group disaggregates insurance finance income or expenses on insurance contracts issued for its credit life
portfolio for only one of its subsidiary between profit or loss and OCI. The impact of changes in market interest
rates on the value of the insurance assets and liabilities are reflected in OCI in order to minimize accounting
mismatches between the accounting for financial assets and insurance assets and liabilities. For all other
businesses, the Group does not disaggregate finance income and expenses because the related financial assets are
managed on a fair value basis and measured at FVTPL.

For the contracts measured using the VFA, the P&L option is applied. As the Group holds the underlying items
for these contracts, the use of the P&L option results in the elimination of accounting mismatches with income or
expenses included in profit or loss on the underlying assets held. This is applied because the amounts of income
or expenses for the underlying assets are recognized in profit or loss.

Taxation

Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

The Group calculates the contribution to KFAS at 1% of profit for the year attributable to the Parent Company in
accordance with the modified calculation based on the Foundation’s Board of Directors resolution, which states
that income from associates and subsidiaries and transfer to statutory reserve until the reserve reaches 50% of
share capital should be excluded from profit base when determining the contribution. The contribution to KFAS
is payable in full before the AGM is held in accordance with the Ministerial Resolution (184/2022).

National Labour Support Tax (NLST)

The Group calculates the NLST in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and related resolutions at 2.5% of taxable
profit for the year. As per the law, income from associates and subsidiaries, cash dividends from listed companies
which are subjected to NLST have been deducted from the profit for the year.

Zakat
Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit of the Group in accordance with the Ministry of Finance
resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December 2007.

Taxation on overseas subsidiaries
Taxation on overseas Subsidiaries is calculated on the basis of the tax rates applicable and prescribed according
to the prevailing laws, regulations and instructions of the countries where these subsidiaries operate.
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

Initial Recognition and subsequent measurement

To determine their classification and measurement category, IFRS 9 requires all financial assets, except equity
instruments and derivatives, to be assessed based on a combination of the Group’s business model for managing
the assets and the instruments” contractual cash flow characteristics.

Business model assessment

The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets
to achieve its business objective. That is, whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash
flows from the assets or is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets.
If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are
classified as part of ‘Sell’ business model.

The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Group’s assessment.

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 'stress
case’ scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is different from the
Group's original expectations, the Group does not change the classification of the remaining financial assets held
in that business model but incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or newly purchased
financial assets going forward.

Assessment of whether contractual cashflows are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI test)
The Group assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash flows represent Solely Payments of Principal and
Interest (the ‘SPPI test’).

‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition that
may change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortisation
of the premium/discount).

The most significant elements of profit within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the time
value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Group applies judgement and considers relevant
factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the profit rate
is set.

In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the
contractual cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and profit on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial asset is
required to be measured at FVTPL.

The Group reclassifies when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. The
reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following the change. Such changes are
expected to be very infrequent.

Measurement categories of financial assets and liabilities
The IAS 39 measurement categories of financial assets (fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), available for
sale (AFS), held-to-maturity and amortised cost) have been replaced by:

> Debt instruments at amortised cost

> Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), with gains or
losses recycled to profit or loss on derecognition

>  Equity instruments at FVOCI, with no recycling of gains or losses to profit or loss on derecognition

> Financial assets at FVTPL
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2.3 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Initial Recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

The accounting for financial liabilities remains largely the same as it was under IAS 39, except for the treatment
of gains or losses arising from an entity’s own credit risk relating to liabilities designated at FVTPL. Such
movements are presented in other comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to the consolidated
statement of income.

Under IFRS 9, embedded derivatives are no longer separated from a host financial asset. Instead, financial assets
are classified based on the business model and their contractual terms. The accounting for derivatives embedded
in financial liabilities and in non-financial host contracts has not changed.

Debt instruments at amortised cost
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions:
- The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and
- The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments measured at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective yield
method adjusted for impairment losses, if any

Debt instruments at amortised cost

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired. Since the Group’s financial assets (cash and bank balances, time deposits, debt instruments at amortised
cost) meet these conditions, they are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalent consist of cash on hand and
at banks and short term deposits and call accounts.

Short- and long-term deposits

Short-term deposits comprise of time deposits with banks with maturity periods of more than three months and
less than one year from the date of acquisition. Long-term deposits represent time deposits with maturity periods
of more than one year from the date of placement

Equity instruments at FVOCI

Upon initial recognition, the Group may elect to classify irrevocably some of its equity investments as equity
instruments at FVOCI when they meet the definition of Equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
and are not held for trading. Such classification is determined on an instrument-by- instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these equity instruments are never recycled to the consolidated statement of income.
Dividends are recognised in consolidated statement of income when the right of the payment has been established,
except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the instrument, in which
case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject to an
impairment assessment. Upon disposal cumulative gains or losses are reclassified from fair value reserve to
retained earnings in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. The management classifies certain equity
investments at FVOCI and are separately disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Debt instruments at FVOCI
The Group applies the category under IFRS 9 of debt instruments measured at FVOCI when both of the following
conditions are met:
*  The instrument is held within a business model, the objective of which is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets;
*  The contractual terms of the financial asset meet the SPPI test.
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2.3 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Initial Recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)

Debt instruments at FVOCI (continued)

This category only includes debt instruments, which the Group intends to hold for the foreseeable future, and
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market conditions. The Group
classified its debt instruments at FVOCI. Debt instruments at FVOCI are subject to an impairment assessment
under [FRS 9.

Financial assets at FVTPL

The Group classifies financial assets fair value through profit and loss when they have been purchased or issued
primarily for short-term profit making through trading activities or form part of a portfolio of financial instruments
that are managed together, for which there is evidence of a recent pattern of short-term profit taking. Held-for-
trading assets are recorded and measured in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value. In
addition, on initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the
requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

Changes in fair values and dividends are recorded in consolidated statement of income according to the terms of
the contract, or when the right to payment has been established.

Included in this classification are certain equity securities that have been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling or repurchasing in the near term and certain debt instruments that failed the SPPI test.

For unit linked investments for insurance contracts issued with discretionary participation features, the Group has
elected to measure those investments at FVTPL to compensate insurance finance income / expense. That election
is irrevocable and made on an instrument-by instrument basis.

Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

» the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired.

» the Group has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-
through’ arrangement; and either

(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or

(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered pass-through
arrangement and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the
asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be
required to repay.
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on financial assets measured at amortized
cost and debt investments measured at FVOCI.

The measurement of ECL reflects:
*  An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible
outcomes;
¢ The time value of resources; and
* Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Expected credit losses are recognized in two stages, 12-month expected credit losses and Lifetime expected credit
losses.

The Group measures 12-month expected credit losses in following cases:
»  debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and
«  other financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition.

Lifetime expected credit losses are the expected credit losses that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument, whereas 12-month expected credit losses are the portion of expected credit
losses that results from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. In all cases,
the maximum period considered when estimating expected credit losses is the maximum contractual period over
which the Company is exposed to credit risk.

Credit impaired financial assets:

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets measured at amortized cost and debt
investments at FVOCI are credit impaired. In certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the
contractual cash flows.

The Group does, however, consider that there has been a significant increase in credit risk for a previously assessed
low credit risk investment when any contractual payments on these instruments are past due or there is a
downgrade in credit ratings by two notches or more compare to the credit rating at the beginning of the financial
reporting period.

Recognition of ECL

Losses are recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account. When the Group considers that there
are no realistic prospects of recovery of the asset (either partially or in full), the relevant amounts are written off.
If the amount of impairment loss subsequently decreases and the decrease is related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognized, then the previously recognized impairment loss

Presentation of loss allowances in the statement of financial position:
Loss allowances for expected credit losses are presented as follows:

« financial assets measured at amortized cost: the loss allowance is deducted from the gross carrying
amount of the assets;

« the ECLs for debt instruments measured at FVOCI do not reduce the carrying amount of these financial
assets in the statement of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the
allowance that would arise if the assets were measured at amortized cost is recognized in the statement
of comprehensive income with a corresponding charge to the statement of income.
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IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The calculation of ECLs
The mechanics of the ECL calculations are outlined below and the key elements are, as follows:

*  PD: The Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon. It is
estimated with consideration of economic scenarios and forward-looking information.

*  EAD: The Exposure at Default is an estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account
expected changes in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest,
whether scheduled by contract or otherwise, and accrued interest from missed payments.

* LGD: The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a default occurs at a
given time. It is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the Group
would expect to receive. It is usually expressed as a percentage of the EAD.

The Group allocates its assets subject to ECL calculations to one of these categories, determined as follows:

Stage 1 - 12-month ECL (12mECL):

The 12mECL is calculated as the portion of lifetime ECLs (LTECLs) that represent the ECLs that result from
default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. The Group
calculates the 12mECL allowance based on the expectation of a default occurring in the 12 months following
the reporting date. These expected 12-month default probabilities are applied to a forecast EAD and multiplied
by the expected LGD and discounted by an appropriate effective interest rate (EIR).

Stage 2 - LTECL:

When an instrument has shown a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the Group records an
allowance for the LTECLs. The mechanics are similar to those explained above, including the use of multiple
scenarios, but PDs and LGDs are estimated over the lifetime of the instrument. The expected losses are discounted
by an appropriate EIR.

Stage 3 - Credit impaired:
For debt instruments considered credit-impaired, the Group recognizes the lifetime expected credit losses for these
instruments. The method is similar to that for LTECL assets, with the PD set at 100%.

Forward looking information
In its ECL models, the Company relies on a broad range of forward-looking information as economic inputs, such
as:

*  GDP growth

Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject
to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical segment is engaged
in providing products or services within a particular economic environment that are subject to risks and return that
are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments.

Liability adequacy test

At each reporting date the Group assesses whether its recognised insurance liabilities are adequate using current
estimates of future cash flows under its insurance contracts. If that assessment shows that the carrying amount of
its insurance liabilities (less related deferred policy acquisition costs) is inadequate in light of estimated future
cash flows, the entire deficiency is immediately recognised in the consolidated statement of income and an
unexpired risk provision is created.

The Group does not discount its liability for unpaid claims as substantially all claims are expected to be paid
within one year of the reporting date.
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Property and equipment

Land and buildings are accounted for under the revaluation model less accumulated depreciation on buildings and
impairment losses recognised at the date of revaluation. Land is not depreciated. Valuations are performed with
sufficient frequency to ensure that the carrying amount of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its fair
value. A revaluation surplus is recorded in OCI and credited to the asset revaluation surplus in equity. However,
to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit of the same asset previously recognised in consolidated statement
of income, the increase is recognised in profit and loss. A revaluation deficit is recognised in the consolidated
statement of consolidated statement of income, except to the extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same
asset recognised in the asset revaluation reserve.

An annual transfer from the asset revaluation reserve to retained earnings is made for the difference between
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset and depreciation based on the asset’s original
cost. Additionally, accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated against the gross carrying
amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Upon disposal, any
revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred to retained earnings.

Other categories (Furniture and fixtures, motor vehicles and leasehold improvements) are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the following classes of assets:

Buildings 20 — 50 years
Others 1 — 5 years

Investment in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The considerations made in determining significant influence are similar to those necessary to determine control
over subsidiaries. The Group’s investment in associates is accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the
investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate since the acquisition
date. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is not tested for
impairment separately.

The consolidated statement of income reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations of the associate. Any
change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition, when there has been a
change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes, when
applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.

The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated
statement of income and represents profit or loss after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the
associate.

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. When necessary,
adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associates. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and then recognises the amount in the consolidated statement of income.
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Investment in associates (continued)

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in the consolidated
statement of income.

Share-based payments plan

Employees (including senior executives) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments
against one-time award and/or long-term incentive plan, whereby employees render services over the vesting
period as consideration. Since the Group awards shares of the ultimate parent and the Group has the obligation to
settle the share-based payments, the same is accounted as cash-settled share-based payment transaction. The
Group recognizes the cost of the services received, and a liability to pay for these services, as the employees
render service over the vesting period, at the fair value of the liability. Until the liability is settled, the Group
remeasures the fair value of the liability at the end of each reporting period and at the date of settlement, with any
changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss for the period.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised software development costs, are not capitalised and
expenditure is reflected in the consolidated statement of income in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits
embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and treated
as changes in accounting estimates.

Amortization is provided on a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the following classes of assets and is
recognised in the consolidated statement of income:

Computer software 4 years
Distribution network 5-12 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised but are tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or change in circumstances indicate the carrying value may be impaired, either individually
or at the cash generating unit level. The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually
to determine whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the consolidated statement of income
when the asset is derecognised.

Goodwill
Accounting policy relating to goodwill is documented in the accounting policy “Business combinations and
goodwill”.

Investment properties

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date that is
determined based on valuation performed by an independent valuer using valuation methods consistent with the
nature and usage of the investment properties. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in the consolidated statement of income in the year in which they arise.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment properties
is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or
losses on the retirement or disposal of investment properties are recognised in consolidated statement of income
in the year of retirement or disposal.
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Investment properties (continued)

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at
the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for
such property in accordance with the policy stated under property and equipment up to the date of change in use.

Leases

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership
of the leased asset at the end of the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of
lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is
a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments or a change in the
assessment to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option). It also
applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that are considered of low value. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.

Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired
and is written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by
valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.
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Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared
separately for each of the Group’s CGUs, to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast
calculations generally cover a period of five years. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and
applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication
that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists,
the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount
since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of amortisation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal
is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

The following criteria are also applied in assessing impairment of goodwill:

Goodwill
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and when circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired.

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units, to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units is less than their carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised.

Previously recorded impairment losses for goodwill are not reversed in future periods.

Fair value measurement
For those assets and liabilities carried at fair value, the Group measures fair value at each reporting date. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability

The Group must be able to access the principal or the most advantageous market at the measurement date.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
Level 1 Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable
Level 3 Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.
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Fair value measurement (continued)

Investments with no reliable measure of their fair value and for which no fair value information could be obtained
are carried at their initial cost less impairment in value.

End of service indemnity

Provision is made for amounts payable to employees under the Kuwaiti Labour Law, employee contracts and
applicable labour laws in the countries where the subsidiaries operate. This liability, which is unfunded, represents
the amount payable to each employee as a result of involuntary termination on reporting date. With respect to its
national employees, the Group makes contributions to the Public Institution for Social Security calculated as a
percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s obligations are limited to these contributions which are
expensed when due.

Treasury shares

Treasury shares consist of the Parent Company’s own shares that have been issued, subsequently reacquired by
the Group and not yet reissued or cancelled. The treasury shares are accounted for using the cost method. Under
the cost method, the weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a contra equity account. When
the treasury shares are reissued, gains are credited to a separate account in equity (Treasury shares reserve) which
is not distributable. Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent of the credit balance on that
account. Any excess losses are charged to retained earnings then reserves. Gains realised subsequently on the sale
of treasury shares are first used to offset any previously recorded losses in the order of reserves, retained earnings
and the gain on sale of treasury shares account. No cash dividends are paid on these shares. The issue of bonus
shares increases the number of treasury shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without
affecting the total cost of treasury shares.

Foreign currency transactions

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars, which is also the Parent
Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the consolidated financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency. The
Group has elected to recycle the gain or loss that arises from the direct method of consolidation, which is the
method the Group uses to complete its consolidation.

i) Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group entities at their respective functional
currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot
rate of exchange at the reporting date.

All differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are taken to the consolidated statement of
income with the exception of monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment
of a foreign operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed,
at which time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to the consolidated statement of income. Tax charges and
credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in other comprehensive
income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss
arising on retranslation of non-monetary items is treated in line with the recognition of gain or loss on change in
fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or consolidated statement of income is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
consolidated statement of income, respectively)
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2.3 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency transactions (continued)

ii) Group companies

On consolidation, assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Kuwaiti dinars at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the reporting date and their statements of income are translated at exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised
in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated statement of income.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.

Other reserve
Other reserve is used to record the effect of changes in ownership interest in subsidiaries, without loss of control.

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements. They are disclosed unless the
possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

The Group classifies non-current assets and disposal groups as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. Non-current assets and
disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less
costs to sell. Costs to sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset (disposal group),
excluding finance costs and income tax expense.

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable, and the asset
or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition. Actions required to complete the sale
should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes to the sale will be made or that the decision to sell will
be withdrawn. Management must be committed to the plan to sell the asset and the sale expected to be completed
within one year from the date of the classification.

Property and equipment and intangible assets are not depreciated or amortised once classified as held for sale.

Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results of continuing operations and are presented as a single
amount as profit or loss after tax from discontinued operations in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Hyperinflation accounting

IAS 29 "Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies " requires that the financial statements of an entity
whose functional currency is that of a hyperinflationary economy be stated in the measuring unit currency at the
reporting period end. IAS 29 provides certain qualitative and quantitative guidelines to determine the existence of
a hyperinflationary economy. Accordingly, hyperinflation shall be deemed to exist where the last three years'
cumulative inflation approaches or exceeds 100%.

From 1 April 2022, the Turkish economy is considered to be hyperinflationary in accordance with the criteria in
IAS 29. This requires purchasing power adjustment to the carrying values of the non-monetary assets and
liabilities and to items in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income with respect to subsidiaries of the
Group operating in Turkey.
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23 SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Hyperinflation accounting (continued)

On the application of IAS 29 the Group used the conversion factor derived from the consumer price index ("CPI")
in Turkey. The CPIs and corresponding conversion factors are since 2005 when Turkey previously ceased to be
considered hyperinflationary.

The index and corresponding conversion factors are as follows:

31 December 2022 1,128.45
31 December 2023 1,859.38
31 December 2024 2819.65

Adjustment of the historical carrying values of non-monetary assets and liabilities and the various items of equity
from their date of acquisition or inclusion in the consolidated statement of financial position to the end of the
reporting period to reflect the changes in purchasing power of the currency caused by inflation, according to the
indices published by the Turkish Statistical Institute. Since the Group's comparative amounts are presented in a
stable currency, these comparative amounts are not restated. The statement of comprehensive income in 2022
included the cumulative impact of prior years.

Monetary assets and liabilities are not restated because they are already expressed in terms of the monetary unit
current. Non monetary assets and liabilities are restated by applying the relevant index from the date of acquisition
or initial recording and are subject to impairment assessment with the guidance in the relevant IFRS. The
components of shareholders’ equity are restated by applying the applicable general price index from the dates
when components were contributed or otherwise arose.

All items in the statement of income are restated by applying the relevant conversion factors, except for
restatement of certain specific income statement items which arise from the restatement of non-monetary assets
and liabilities like amortization and gain or loss on sale of fixed assets.

The gain or loss on the net monetary position is the result of the effect of general inflation and is the difference
resulting from the restatement of non-monetary assets, liabilities, shareholders’ equity and income statement
items. The gain or loss on the net monetary position is included in the statement of income.

24 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities
affected in future periods.

Following are the accounting judgments and estimates that are critical in preparation of these consolidated
financial statements:

Insurance and reinsurance contracts
i. PAA Eligibility Assessment

The Group has calculated a Liability for remaining coverage (LRC) and Asset for remaining coverage (ARC) for
those groups of insurance contracts written and reinsurance contracts held respectively where the coverage period
was more than one year except long term life insurance contracts with participation features for which Variable
Fee Approach (VFA) has been applied. This testing has been performed on following insurance and corresponding
reinsurance contracts:

- Medical — Long term
- Engineering — Long term
- Property — Long term
- Motor third party liability
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24 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
(continued)

Insurance and reinsurance contracts (continued)
i. PAA Eligibility Assessment (continued)

After calculating the liabilities/assets applying PAA and GMM approach respectively, Group then checks for any
material differences for the contracts with coverage period of more than one year. In case the Group notes any
material differences, it follows the GMM approach, and where there is no material difference, the Group has opted
for PAA approach. The calculation was performed under both simplified approaches i.e., Premium Allocation
Approach (PAA) and General Measurement Model (GMM).

Situations, which may cause the LRC and / or ARC under the PAA to differ from the LRC and / or ARC under
the GMM:

- When the expectation of the profitability for the remaining coverage changes at a particular valuation
date during the coverage period of a group of contracts;

- If yield curves change significantly from those in place at the group’s initial recognition;

- When the incidence of claims occurrence differs from the coverage units; and

- The effect of discounting under the GMM creates an inherent difference, this difference compounds over
longer contract durations.

ii. Liability for remaining coverage

Acquisition cash flows
The acquisition costs are generally capitalized and recognized in the consolidated statement of income over the
life of the contracts.

Expected premium receipts adjustment
Insurance revenue will be adjusted with the amounts of expected premium receipts adjustment calculated on
premiums not yet collected as of the date of the statement of financial position. The computation is performed
using IFRS 9 simplified approach to calculate Expected Credit Loss (ECL) allowance. The corresponding impact
of this adjustment is recorded in the LRC.

iii. Liability for incurred claims
The ultimate cost of outstanding claims is estimated by using a range of standard actuarial claims projection
techniques, such as Chain Ladder and Bornheutter-Ferguson methods.

The main assumption underlying these techniques is that a Group’s past claims development experience can be
used to project future claims development and hence ultimate claims costs. These methods extrapolate the
development of paid and incurred losses, average costs per claim (including claims handling costs), and claim
numbers based on the observed development of earlier years and expected loss ratios. Historical claims
development is mainly analyzed by accident years, but can also be further analyzed by geographical area, as well
as by significant business lines and claim types. Large claims are usually separately addressed, either by being
reserved at the face value of loss adjuster estimates or separately projected in order to reflect their future
development. In most cases, no explicit assumptions are made regarding future rates of claims inflation or loss
ratios (except for one of the Group’s subsidiaries). Instead, the assumptions used are those implicit in the historical
claims development data on which the projections are based. Additional qualitative judgement is used to assess
the extent to which past trends may not apply in future, (e.g., to reflect one-off occurrences, changes in external
or market factors such as public attitudes to claiming, economic conditions, levels of claims inflation, judicial
decisions and legislation, as well as internal factors such as portfolio mix, policy features and claims handling
procedures) in order to arrive at the estimated ultimate cost of claims that present the probability weighted
expected value outcome from the range of possible outcomes, taking account of all the uncertainties involved.

Estimates of salvage recoveries and subrogation reimbursements are considered as an allowance in the
measurement of ultimate claims costs.

Other key circumstances affecting the reliability of assumptions include variation in interest rates, delays in
settlement and changes in foreign currency exchange rates.

42



Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

2.4 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
(continued)

Insurance and reinsurance contracts (continued)

iv. Onerousity determination

For contracts measured under GMM and VFA, A group of contracts is onerous at initial recognition if there is a
net outflow of fulfilment cash flows. As a result, a liability for the net outflow is recognized as a loss component
within the liability for remaining coverage and a loss is recognized immediately in the statement of income in
insurance service expense. The loss component is then amortized to statement of income over the coverage period
to offset incurred claims in insurance service expense.

For contracts measured under PAA, the Group assumes that no contracts in the portfolio are onerous at initial
recognition unless facts and circumstances indicate otherwise.

The Group also considers facts and circumstances to identify whether a group of contracts are onerous based on

the following key inputs:

- Pricing information: Underwriting combined ratios and price adequacy ratios.

- Historical combined ratio of similar and comparable sets of contracts.

- Any relevant inputs from underwriters;

- Other external factors such as inflation and change in market claims experience or change in regulations;
and

- For subsequent measurement, the Group also relies on the same group of contracts’ weighted actual
emerging experience.

. Expense attribution

The Group identifies expenses which are directly attributable towards acquiring insurance contracts (acquisition
costs) and fulfilling /maintaining (other attributable expenses) such contracts and those expenses which are not
directly attributable to the aforementioned contracts (non-attributable expenses). Acquisition costs, such as
underwriting costs including other expenses except for initial commission paid, are no longer recognized in the
statement of income when incurred and instead spread over the lifetime of the group of contracts based on the
passage of time.

Other attributable expenses are allocated to the groups of contracts using an allocation mechanism considering
the activity-based costing principles. The Group has determined costs directly identified to the groups of contracts,
as well as costs where a judgement is applied to determine the share of expenses as applicable to that group.

On the other hand, non-directly attributable expenses and overheads are recognized in the statement of income
immediately when incurred. The proportion of directly attributable and non-attributable costs at inception will
change the pattern at which expenses are recognized.

vi. Estimates of future cash flows
The Group primarily uses deterministic projections to estimate the present value of future cash flows.

The following assumptions were used when estimating future cash flows:

» Mortality and morbidity rates (insurance risk and reinsurance business)

Assumptions are based on standard industry and national tables, according to the type of contract written and the
territory in which the insured person resides. They reflect recent historical experience and are adjusted when
appropriate to reflect the Group’s own experiences. An appropriate, but not excessive, allowance is made for
expected future improvements. Assumptions are differentiated by policyholder gender, underwriting class and
contract type. An increase in expected mortality and morbidity rates will increase the expected claim cost which
will reduce future expected profits of the Group.
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24 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
(continued)

Insurance and reinsurance contracts (continued)
vi. Estimates of future cash flows (continued)

> Expenses

Operating expenses assumptions reflect the projected costs of maintaining and servicing in—force policies and
associated overhead expenses. The current level of expenses is taken as an appropriate expense base, adjusted for
expected expense inflation if appropriate. An increase in the expected level of expenses will reduce future
expected profits of the Group. The cash flows within the contract boundary include an allocation of fixed and
variable overheads directly attributable to fulfilling insurance contracts. (Such overheads are allocated to groups
of contracts using methods that are systematic and rational and are consistently applied to all costs that have
similar characteristics).

» Lapse and surrender rates

Lapses relate to the termination of policies due to non—payment of premiums. Surrenders relate to the voluntary
termination of policies by policyholders. Policy termination assumptions are determined using statistical measures
based on the Company’s experience and vary by product type, policy duration and sales trends. An increase in
lapse rates early in the life of the policy would tend to reduce profits of the Group, but later increases are broadly
neutral in effect.

vii. Discount rates

The Group adopt a bottom-up approach in deriving appropriate discount rates. The starting point for these discount
rates will be appropriate reference liquid risk-free curves— taking consideration for the currency characteristics of
the contracts and their respective cashflows. The risk-free reference curve will be the Moody’s Analytics yield
curves for risk-free rates for USD adjusted for illiquidity premiums, and the relevant country specific risk premium
will be loaded as required.

The bottom-up approach was used to derive the discount rate for the cash flows that do not vary based on the
returns on underlying items in the Participating contracts (excluding investment contracts without DPF that are
not in the scope of IFRS 17). Under this approach, the discount rate is determined as the risk-free yield adjusted
for differences in liquidity characteristics between the financial assets used to derive the risk-free yield and the
relevant liability cash flows (known as an illiquidity premium). Direct participating contracts and investment
contracts with DPF are considered less liquid than the financial assets used to derive the risk-free yield. For these
contracts, the illiquidity premium was estimated based on market observable liquidity premium in financial assets
adjusted to reflect the illiquidity characteristics of the liability cash flows.

viii. Risk adjustments
IFRS 17 requires to measure insurance contracts at initial recognition as the sum of the following items
>  Fulfilment Cash Flow (FCF) comprising the Present Value of Future Cash Flows (PVFCF) with an
appropriate discounting structure
> Risk Adjustment (RA) for non-financial risk
> Contractual Service Margin (CSM)

The risk adjustment for non-financial risk is the compensation that the entity requires for bearing the uncertainty
about the amount and timing of cash flows that arises from non-financial risk.

Derivation of the risk adjustment

The Group has determined that the derivation of the risk adjustment shall be performed at subsidiary level using
an appropriate methodology that is in line with IFRS 17 guidelines. The Group's consolidated risk adjustment is
the aggregation of all subsidiaries’ risk adjustments, without allowance for correlation among subsidiaries (i.e.,
no diversification benefit is considered at the Group level).

The Risk Adjustment for the Liability for Incurred Claims (LIC) has been estimated based on the quantile
approach performed on each subsidiary’s triangles with consideration to market benchmarks.
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24 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
(continued)

Insurance and reinsurance contracts (continued)

viii. Risk adjustments (continued)

The Group has set a target confidence level in the range of the 70th to 80th percentile, on a diversified basis, at an
aggregate subsidiary level (i.e., diversification is allowed among the actuarial segments within the subsidiary
itself). The Group applies judgment to determine the appropriate Risk Adjustment based on the non-financial risks
associated with their portfolios of insurance contracts to determine the desired Risk Adjustment.

ix. Sensitivities on major assumptions considered while applying IFRS 17

The sensitivity analysis is done to evaluate the impact on gross and net liabilities for reasonably possible
movements in key assumptions. The correlation of assumptions will have a significant effect in determining the
ultimate impacts, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in each assumption, assumptions had to be changed
on an individual basis. It should be noted that movements in these assumptions are nonlinear. The sensitivity
analysis performed during the year and has been presented under Note 23.

X. Impairment of non-financial assets

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal
calculation is based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets
or observable market prices less incremental costs of disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based
on a DCF model. The cash flows are derived from the budget for the next five years and do not include
restructuring activities that the Group is not yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance
the performance of the assets of the CGU being tested. The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate
used for the DCF model as well as the expected future cash-inflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation
purposes. These estimates are most relevant to goodwill and other intangibles with indefinite useful lives
recognised by the Group. The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for the different CGUs,
including a sensitivity analysis, are disclosed and further explained in Note 14.

Xi. Classification of financial assets

The Group determines the classification of financial assets based on the assessment of the business model within
which the assets are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial asset are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

xii. Classification of investment property
The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate rental income or for capital
appreciation, or for undetermined future use.

xiii. Revaluation of property and equipment and investment properties

The Group carries its property and equipment (land and building only) and investment properties at fair value with
changes in fair value being recognized in other comprehensive income and the statement of profit or loss
respectively. These properties were valued by reference to transactions involving properties of a similar nature,
location and condition. The Group engaged an independent valuation specialist to assess fair values as at 31
December 2024. The key assumptions used to determine the fair value of these properties and sensitivity analyses
are provided in Note 11 and Note 12.
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3. NET INVESTMENT INCOME
2024 2023
Total Total
KD 000’s
KD 000’s (Restated)
Net gain on investments at fair value through profit or loss 9,058 9,949
Dividend income 3,094 2,504
Foreign exchange gain 2,596 3,284
Net rental income from investment properties 342 223
Change in fair value of investment properties 157 1,575
Loss on sale of investment properties 27 (550)
Other investment expense, net (2,566) (786)
12,654 16,199
4. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS

OF THE PARENT COMPANY

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent
Company (adjusted for interest on subordinated perpetual tier 2 bond) by the weighted average number of shares,
less weighted average number of treasury shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is
calculated by dividing profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares, less weighted average number of treasury shares, outstanding during the year
plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares which is reserved from employees’ share option scheme.

The information necessary to calculate basic and diluted earnings per share based on weighted average number of
share outstanding during the year is as follow:

2023
2024 restated
Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company
(KD 000°s) 25,922 21,206
Less: interest and amortization on subordinated perpetual tier 2 bonds
(KD 000’s) (3,124) (3,437)
22,798 17,769
Shares Shares
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year, net
of treasury shares 284,356,420 283,751,067
Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to equity holders
of the Parent Company 80.17 fils 62.62 fils

As there are no dilutive instruments outstanding, basic and diluted earnings per share are identical.
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5. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2024 2023
KD 000’s
KD 000’s (Restated)
Cash on hand and at banks 85,001 55,355
Short term deposits 75,846 101,050
160,847 156,405

As at 31 December 2024, certain bank balances amounting to KD 27,558 (31 December 2023: KD 28,463
thousand) are statutory required balances and are not available for use in the day to day operations.

Reconciliation to cash flow statement

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following at

31 December:

2024 2023
KD 000’s
KD 000’s (Restated)
Balances as above 160,847 156,405
Less: bank overdraft - (3,082)
160,847 153,323

Bank overdraft carries an effective interest rate of Nil (2023: 0.75%) over the CBK discount rate
6. TERM DEPOSITS

Term deposits of KD 36,989 (2023: KD 62,674 thousand) are placed with local and foreign banks and carry an
average effective interest rate ranging from 2.350% to 5.8 % (2023: from 1.10% to 7.25%) per annum. Term

deposits mature after one year.

7. OTHER ASSETS
2024 2023

KD 000’s

KD 000’s (Restated)
Accrued interest and dividends income 7,381 7,396
Refundable deposits 633 605
Outstanding premium due from intermediaries 4,582 1,918
Prepaid expenses 3,985 3,824
Other tax receivables (VAT) 2,771 498
Others 8,726 14,547
28,078 28,788
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

9. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

9.1 DEBT INSTRUMENTS AT AMORTISED COST

2024 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s
Debt instruments at amortised cost
Quoted 37,462 1,984
Unquoted 35,533 74,911
72,995 76,895
9.2 INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2024 2023
KD 000’s
KD 000’s (Restated)
Quoted securities 42,169 28,820
Unquoted securities 10,670 9,120
Managed funds of quoted securities 39,268 39,740
Managed funds of unquoted securities 7,858 8,111
Quoted bonds 16,972 7,479
Unquoted bonds 4,301 4,299
121,238 97,569

9.3 INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2024 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s

Investment at fair value through OCI
Quoted equity securities 19,673 15,528
Unquoted equity securities 10,513 8,556
Quoted managed funds - 187
Unquoted managed funds 187 30
Quoted bonds 343,724 308,508

374,097 332,809

The fair value hierarchy and basis of valuation is disclosed in Note 28.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

10. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

The Group has the following significant investment in associates:

Country of Percentage of
incorporation ownership Principal Activity
2024 2023
Al-Buruj Co-Operative Insurance Company (A Saudi Kingdom of Saudi
Public Stock Company) (“Al-Buruj)** Arabia - 28.515% Insurance
Al-Argan International Real Estate Company K.S.C.P.
(Al-Argan) Kuwait 20% 20% Real Estate
United Arab
Alliance Insurance Company P.S.C. (“Alliance”) Emirates 20% 20% Insurance
Communication & Broadcasting
Insurance & Third party
United Networks Company K.S.C. (Closed)** Kuwait - 17% administration - Claims
Others Middle East

The movement of the investment in associates during the year is as follows:

2024 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s

Carrying value at 1 January 24,297 43,717
Share from IFRS 9 transition impact - 391
Additions - 1,765
Dividends received (2,736) (2,154)
Share of results of associates 3,737 2,318
Share of other comprehensive (loss) income of associates (71) 101
Share of other reserve - 86
Foreign currency translation adjustments (672) (570)
Impairment loss* (400) (10,824)
Transferred to financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 29 -
Transferred to assets held for sale** - (10,533)

24,126 24,297

*In respect of the Group’s investment in certain associates, the management considered the performance outlook
and business operations of the cash generating units (CGUs) to assess whether the recoverable amount of a CGU
covers its carrying amount. Based on the estimated cash flows, discounted back to their present value using a
discount rate that reflects the risk profile and market comparable approach, the management concluded that the
carrying value exceeds the recoverable amount by KD 400 thousand (2023: KD 10,824) for certain CGUs.
Accordingly, an impairment loss has been recognized in the consolidated statement of income.

**Disposals of investment in associate
- During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Parent Company has partially disposed its share in Al
Buruj by 28.5%, the residual ownership of 0.015% has been transferred to financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss with an amount of KD 5 thousand, the total disposal consideration is SAR 121,837
thousand (equivalent in KD 9,922 thousand). The results from disposal realized gain of KD 279 thousand
that recognized to the consolidated statement of income.

- During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Parent Company has entirely disposed of its share of 17%
of united works with total consideration of KD 500 thousand. Resulted from disposal realized gain of
KD 20 thousand that recognized to the consolidated statement of income.

The aforementioned disposals were classified by the Parent company as disposal group held for sale
based on the Board of Directors approval date 13 November 2023 with total amount of KD 10,533
thousand. The disposal group is derecognized as the sale transactions that occurred during 2024.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

10. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The associates contingent liabilities and capital commitments as at 31 December is as follows:

2024 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s
Contingent liabilities 3,966 7,045
3,966 7,045

Summarised financial information of material associates of the Group is as follows:

Al-Argan Alliance Others 2024 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
Share of associates’ financial
position:
Assets 49,947 21,737 34,464 106,148 120,459
Liabilities 34,461 12,614 28,633 75,708 76,765
Share of the associates’ net assets 15,486 9,123 5,831 30,440 43,694
Goodwill - 1,784 176 1,960 1,960
Impairment (8,274) - - (8,274) (10,824)
Transferred to assets held for sale - - - - (10,533)
Carrying value 7,212 10,907 6,007 24,126 24,297
Share of associates’ revenues and
net profit:
Revenues 406 4,072 4,574 9,052 10,603
Net profit 581 648 2,508 3,737 2,318

11. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2024 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s

Opening balance as at 1 January 8,354 8,830
Additions 106 -
Disposal (1,168) (1,396)
Change in fair value 157 2,227
Foreign exchange differences (793) (1,307)

6,656 8,354

Measuring investment property at fair value

Investment properties, principally office buildings, are held for long-term rental yields and are not occupied by
the group. They are carried at fair value. Changes in fair values are presented in profit or loss as part of other
income.

For local properties, the fair values of investment properties are based on a valuation performed by accredited
independent valuers; one of these appraisers is a local bank and the other is a local reputable accredited appraiser.
As for foreign properties, the fair values of investment properties are based on one valuation performed by foreign
accredited independent valuer. The valuation is based on acceptable methods of valuation such as market
comparable methods. As the significant valuation inputs used are based on indirectly observable market data these
are classified under level 3 fair value hierarchy. In estimating the fair value of the investment properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

The Significant unobservable valuation input is the Price per square meter determined from each territory of each
investment property. Significant increases (decreases) in estimated price per square meter in isolation would result

in a significantly higher (lower) fair value on a linear basis.

The fair value hierarchy and basis of valuation is disclosed in Note 28.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

12. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Land Buildings Others Total
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Cost:
As at 1 January 2024 12,466 30,415 24,306 67,187
Additions 61 127 2,263 2,451
Disposals - - (692) (692)
Revaluation adjustment (341) (278) - (619)
Exchange differences (806) (1,767) (412) (2,985)
As at 31 December 2024 11,380 28,497 25,465 65,342
Accumulated depreciation:
As at 1 January 2024 - (8,179) (20,015) (28,194)
Charge for the year - (861) (1,688) (2,549)
Related to disposals - - 665 665
Exchange differences - 197 460 657
As at 31 December 2024 - (8,843) (20,578) (29,421)
Net carrying amount:

As at 31 December 2024 11,380 19,654 4,887 35,921

Land Buildings Others Total
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Cost:
As at 1 January 2023 16,457 31,462 23,457 71,376
Arising from Acquisition of Subsidiaries - 24 3 27
Reduced on Divestiture of Subsidiaries (1,159) (1,824) (124) (3,107)
Additions - 2 1,653 1,655
Disposals (379) (1,415) 71 (1,723)
Revaluation adjustment (1,360) 2,647 - 1,287
Exchange differences (1,093) (481) (754) (2,328)
As at 31 December 2023 12,466 30,415 24,306 67,188
Accumulated depreciation:
As at 1 January 2023 - (8,132) (18,880) (27,012)
Related to disposal of subsidiary - 11 47 58
Charge for the year - (644) (1,909) (2,553)
Related to disposals - 553 119 672
Exchange differences - 33 608 641
As at 31 December 2023 - (8,179) (20,015) (28,194)
Net carrying amount:

As at 31 December 2023 12,466 22,236 4,291 38,993

Land and buildings are recognized at fair value based on annual valuations by external independent accredited
valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings. A revaluation surplus is credited to revaluation surplus reserve
to the shareholders” equity net of the deferred tax charged directly to Equity from foreign subsidiaries subject to
the deferred tax. All other property, plant and equipment is recognized at historical cost less depreciation.

The Significant unobservable valuation input is the Price per square meter determined from each territory of each
land in addition to the market comparable approach for the buildings. Significant increases (decreases) in
estimated price per square meter in isolation would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value on a linear
basis.

The fair value hierarchy and basis of valuation is disclosed in Note 28.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost:

As at 1 January 2024
Additions

Disposals

Exchange differences
As at 31 December 2024

Accumulated amortization:

As at 1 January 2024
Charge for the year
Related to disposals
Exchange differences
As at 31 December 2024

Net carrying amount:
As at 31 December 2024

Cost:

As at 1 January 2023
Additions

Disposals

Impairment

Exchange differences
As at 31 December 2023

Accumulated amortization:
As at 1 January 2023
Charge for the year
Related to disposals
Exchange differences

As at 31 December 2023

Net carrying amount:
As at 31 December 2023

Customer and Computer
Broker Software and
Relationships others Total
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
45,560 23,371 68,931
- 2,698 2,698
- 473) 473)
116 67 183
45,676 25,663 71,339
10,656 11,932 22,588
4,427 2,947 7,374
- (209) (209)
32 36 68
15,115 14,706 29,821
30,561 10,957 41,518
Customer and Computer
Broker Software and
Relationships others Total
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
45,343 16,543 61,886
- 7,011 7,011
- (100) (100)
- (173) 173)
217 90 307
45,560 23,371 68,931
6,298 9,708 16,006
4,329 2,178 6,507
- 1) (1)
29 47 76
10,656 11,932 22,588
34,904 11,439 46,343
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

14. GOODWILL

Goodwill has been allocated to individual cash-generating units. The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to
each of the cash-generating units is shown below:

2024 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s
GIG Egypt “Arab Misr Insurance Group Company S.A.E.” 308 308
GIG Bahrain “Bahrain Kuwaiti Insurance Company B.S.C.” 2,626 2,626
GIG Jordan “Arab Orient Insurance Company J.S.C.” 5,292 5,292
GIG Iraq “Dar Al-Salam Insurance Company 604 604
GIG Egypt Takaful “Egypt Life Takaful Insurance Company S.A.E.” 168 168
GIG Saudi Company 22,224 22,148
GIG Turkey “Gulf Sigorta A.S.” 2,173 2,173
33,395 33,319
Movement on goodwill during the year is as follows:
2024 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s
As at 1 January 33,319 33,233
Foreign currency translation adjustments 76 86
As at 31 December 33,395 33,319

The Group performed its annual impairment test in accordance with its accounting policy and performed a
sensitivity analysis of the underlying assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations. The recoverable amounts
of cash-generating units were higher than the carrying amounts. Consequently, no impairment was considered
necessary as at the end of the reporting period.

The following table represents the valuation techniques with the assumptions used in the impairment test for the
major CGUs.

Terminal
wACC Growth rate
GIG Bahrain “Bahrain Kuwaiti Insurance Company B.S.C.” 13.7% 2.0%
GIG Jordan “Arab Orient Insurance Company J.S.C.” 13.5% 2.5%
GIG Saudi Company 11.0% 2.5%

*Sensitivity impact by change of +/- by 1% in the key assumptions used in impairment test, the recoverable
amounts will still exceed the carrying amounts.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

15. LONG TERM LOANS

The Parent Company has obtained two bank loans (unsecured) from local banks to be payable as follows:

a) First loan is payable on annual installment basis beginning on 26 December 2023 with last installment
to be due on 26 December 2027 and carries interest rate of 1.25% per annum over Central Bank of Kuwait
discount rate. The balance of the term loan as at 31 December 2024 is KD 28,116 thousand (31 December
2023: KD 28,116 thousand). The Parent Company has agreed with the bank to postpone the installment
with the total amount of KD 4,961 thousand that was due on 26 December 2024, to be settled on 26

December 2027.

b) Second loan is payable on quarterly installment basis for a period of five years beginning on 31 March
2024 and carries an interest rate of 1.25% per annum over Central Bank of Kuwait discount rate and the
last installment is due on 30 September 2027.The balance of the term loan as at 31 December 2024 is
KD 22,750 thousand (31 December 2023: KD 25,000 thousand). The Parent Company has agreed with
the bank to postpone two installments with the total amount of KD 3,500 thousand that was due on 31

December 2024, to be settled on 30 March 2025.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

16. OTHER LIABILITIES

2024 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s
Accrued expenses 14,075 14,376
Refundable deposits 40 153
Insurance payable for intermediaries 35,476 24216
provision for litigations 2,795 3,681
Others 60,473 53,510
112,859 95,936
17. PROVISION FOR END OF SERVICE BENEFITS
2024 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s
Opening balance as at 1 January 17,087 15,449
Charged during the period 4,011 3,006
Paid during the year 3,761) (1,256)
Foreign exchange differences 24 (112)
17,313 17,087

18. EQUITY, DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES

a) Share capital

The authorised share capital of the Parent Company comprises of 350,000,000 shares (31 December 2023:
350,000,000) of 100 fils each. The issued and fully paid-up share capital consists of 284,572,463 shares (31
December 2023: 284,572,463) of 100 fils each.

b) Share premium
The share premium account is not restricted for distribution as the parent Company disposed its entire treasury
shares during the year ended 31 December 2024.

c) Dividends and directors’ remuneration

Dividends for 2023

The Ordinary Annual General Assembly meeting of the Parent Company’s shareholders held on 29 April 2024,
approved the Board of Director’s proposal for distributing cash dividends to the shareholders of 37 fils per share
(2022: 54 fils) for the year ended 31 December 2023 with total amount of KD 10,529 thousand (2022: KD 15,323
thousand).

Proposed dividends for 2024

At the Board of Directors meeting held on 27 March 2025, the directors of the Parent Company proposed
distribution of a cash dividend of 23 fils per share for the year ended 31 December 2024 which represents 23% of
paid-up share capital. The proposed dividend is subject to the approval of the shareholders at the General
Assembly meeting

Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration of KD 185 thousand for the year ended 31 December 2024 is subject to approval by the
Ordinary Annual General Assembly of the Parent Company’s shareholders. Directors' remuneration of KD 185
thousand for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approved by the Ordinary Annual General Assembly of the
Parent Company’s shareholders held on 29 April 2024.

64



Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

18. EQUITY, DIVIDENDS AND RESERVES (continued)

d) Treasury shares
2024 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s
Number of shares (share) - 821,396
Percentage of issued shares (%) - 0.29%
Cost (KD 000’s) - 429
Market value (KD 000’s) - 1,544

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Parent Company has disposed of all its treasury shares with a total
consideration of KD 1,598 thousand, that resulted in a gain on sale of KD 1,169 thousand which has been
recognized to the consolidated statement of changes in equity under treasury share reserve.

e) Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Companies’ Law, and the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles
of Association, a minimum of 10% of the profit for the year attributable to the equity holders of the Parent
Company before KFAS, NLST, Zakat and board of directors’ remuneration shall be transferred to the statutory
reserve based on the recommendation of the Parent Company’s board of directors. The annual general assembly
of the Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such transfer when the reserve exceeds 50% of the issued share
capital. The reserve may only be used to offset losses or enable the payment of a dividend up to 5% of paid-up
share capital in years when profit is not sufficient for the payment of such dividend due to absence of distributable
reserves. Any amounts deducted from the reserve shall be refunded when the profits in the following years suffice,
unless such reserve exceeds 50% of the issued share capital. At the Parent Company’s board of directors meeting
held on 27 March 2025 proposed to cease the transfer to the reserve as it exceeds 50% of the Paid up capital. This
proposal is subject to the approval of the annual general assembly meeting of the shareholders.

) Voluntary reserve

In accordance with the Companies’ Law, and the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles
of Association, a minimum of 10% of the profit for the year attributable to the equity holders of the Parent
Company before KFAS, NLST, Zakat and board of directors’ remuneration shall be transferred to the voluntary
reserve. Such annual transfers may be discontinued by a resolution of the shareholders’ general assembly upon a
recommendation by the Board of Directors. There are no restrictions on the distribution of this reserve. At the
Parent Company’s board of directors meeting held on 27 March 2025 proposed to cease the transfer to the reserve
as it exceeds 50% of the Paid-up capital. This proposal is subject to the approval of the annual general assembly
meeting of the shareholders.

19. SUBORDINATED PERPETUAL TIER 2 BONDS

On 10 November 2022, the Parent Company issued perpetual subordinated Tier 2 fixed and floating rate bonds
composed of KD 30 million at a fixed interest rate of 4.5% and KD 30 million at floating interest rate of 2.75%
above Central Bank of Kuwait discount rate (the “Tier 2 bonds™).

The Tier 2 bonds constitute direct, unconditional, subordinated obligations of the Parent Company and are
classified as equity in accordance with IAS 32: Financial Instruments — Classification. The Tier 2 bonds do not
have a maturity date. They are redeemable by the Parent Company after 5 years.

The Fixed Rate Tier 2 bonds will bear interest from the Issue Date to the First Reset Date at a fixed rate of 4.5%
per annum payable semi-annually in arrears on 10 May and 10 November in each year, commencing on 10 May
2022. Interest is treated as a deduction from equity.

The Floating rate Tier 2 bonds will bear interest at a rate of 2.75% over the CBK Discount Rate per annum
provided however that such sum shall never exceed the prevailing Interest Rate attributable to the Fixed Rate
Tranche Bonds at that time plus 1%, payable semi-annually in arrears on 10 May and 10 November in each year,
commencing on 10 May 2022. Interest is treated as a deduction from equity.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

20. SEGMENT INFORMATION

For the management purpose, the Group operates in two segments, insurance (subdivided into general risk
insurance and life and medical) and investments; there are no inter-segment transactions. The following are the
details of these two segments:

The general risk insurance segment offers general insurance to individuals and businesses. General insurance
products offered include marine and aviation, motor vehicles, property, engineering and general accidents.
These products offer protection of policyholder’s assets and indemnification of other parties that have
suffered damage as a result of policyholder’s accident.

The life and medical insurance segment offer savings, protection products and other long-term contracts. It
comprises a wide range of whole life insurance, term insurance, unitized pensions (Misk individual policies),
pure endowment pensions, group life and disability, credit life (banks), group medical including third party
administration (TPA), preferred global health and FAY products. Revenue from this segment is derived
primarily from insurance premium, fees, commission income, investment income and fair value gains and
losses on investments.

Unallocated category comprises of assets and liabilities’ relating to the Group’s investing activities which do not
fall under the Group’s primary segments.

Executive Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on
segment result and is measured consistently with the results in the consolidated financial statements.

66



L9

ISFory (€8L°9%) 8TLSS 9Ly S0S 8LVl L999 w's (667°€) 666°TL 896C uoIexe) 210Joq (SSO[) 1j0Id
(96¥°9) (96+°9) - - - - - - - - - $1500 QUEBUL]
(820°) (820°p) - - - - - - - - - uoneguuedAy woy sso| Arejouoy
LSL LSL - - - - - - - - - Jou ‘duodul Y0
910°L€) (910°LE) - - - - - - - - - S9suadxa QAIRISIUILIPE pue [eI9US d[qeINQLIIe-UON
66T - 66C - - - - - - - - SOJBIDOSSE JO [BS UO Uren)
(oov) - (oor) - - - - - - - - SJRIO0SSY JO s50[ Juoutiedur
LEL'E - LELE - - - - - - - - SIJRIDOSSE WOIJ SINSAI JO dIeYS
8EF°6E - 8EP°6€ - - - - - - - - SWOdUI JSIRIU]
¥S9TI - $S9°TL - - - - - - - - SUWIODUI JUSLISIAUT JON
90S°1I€ 9L S0S SLY1 L99°9 w's (667°€) 666°TL 896C NS [eRdUBUY ddURINSUI JIN
F9€‘6) - - (0g€) SI1Y) (zr'n L6T LST (0€L) (811°¢) (S6€) Qwioour doukuly (SSUAAXa) SOUBINSUIRT PUB SOUBINSUT JON
(Tr0T9) - - 0L9°1 (s18°¢) (1€5°8) (659°9) 6I¥81) (197°17) 6L9T (900°8) PIoY $10B1U0 ddUBINSULAI WO dwooul (asuadxe) JoN
6701 - - 9TH'e 8€I'8 9ET°IT 620°€T #89°€C 76981 8EFEL 69€°1TT PIoY S}OBIUO0D BOUBINSUIAT 210§ J[NSAI AIIAISS DIUBINSU]

S.000 ajx 5.000 ay 5000 ay 5.000 ayx S.000 ajx S.000 ajy 5.000 Ay 5.000 Ay S.000 ajx 5000 Ay S.000 ajx
mior Ppaoojpu) SpUAUISIAU] opa 17 Agory 20UDINSUy Suroourdug Aadoaqg $a[o1y24 uoyvIAD $207 _dqURAR( 1€

V42U21) Jojol; puv auLIv |/
SpuauIsaauy D212 puv 2f17 OUDINSUL YSIL [DI2UID)
AUIO)UI JO JUIWIIEB)S PIJEPI[OSUOD [BIUIWSIS (e

(panunuod) NOLLVINHOANI INANDHS 07

$70T 1oquIadd(J | € papus Jeak ay) I0j pue Je sy

SINHNALVLS TVIONVNIA d4LVAI'TOSNOD OL SHLON

SaLIRIpISqNS S)1 pue "J'D'S Y dnoin soueinsuy Jyno



89

086°8€ (016°L8) 0T9°LE TITL LIET 867°C1 (9v€°) or8’e 9Er Y 850°€T S$TT uonexe) 810Joq 1joId
(TL8'8) (TL8°8) - - - - - - - - suoneiado panUIUOdSIP WOLJ SSO']
o'y w9 - - - - - - - - Areiprsqns jo uomismboe woy aseyomd uresieq uo uren
(88T°L) (88T°L) - - - - - - - - - 1500 doUBUL{
(Caza ((azay; - - - - - - - - - uonepuLndAy woiy sso| A1ejauojy
911°T 911°C - - - - - - - - - 19U “(Sasuadxa) awodur Joy10
#9T°L2) (¥9T°L2) - - - - - - - - - $505USAXd SANRNSIUIUPE PUB [RIOUST S[qRINGLINE-UON
(rzs‘on) - (Fzson) - - - - - - - - $S91BID0SSY JO $50] JuduLTeduw]
81€T - 81€T - - - - - - - - SOIRIO0SSE WOJ SINSAl JO SIRYS
LT6°6T - LT66T - - - - - - - - SW0OUI 1S1IU]
66191 - 66191 - - - - - - - - SWOOUI JUSUISIAUT JON
0LT'6€ - - TITL LIET 867C1 (9t€°) or8’e 9Er Y 850°€T SSTT J[NSal JerdueUL} SdUBINSUT JON
(€8t°01) - - (920D (651%) (ogg1) 109 68L (0z2) (1L8°Y) (L19) Swoour (3suadxa) 2duEUL AOUBINSUIRI PUE dULINSUL ION
(8¥€°LL) - - (gc€y) (€05°9) €110 (9sL°91) (S¥6°L1) (£80°82) (1007 r6€ PIY S191U0D SUBINSUIOI WO SUddXa JON
101°LT1 - - 129°C1 186°T1 £V6°ST 608°01 966°0C €VLTE 0£9°61 8LET PIY $19BTUOD IDULINSUIDI 310J2q J[NSAI 3ITAISS ddUBINSU]
5.000 Y 5.000 ¥ $.000 dY $.000 dY 5,000 AN $.000 dY 5.000 A $.000 dY 5,000 AN $.000 d¥ 5.000 A
[p10] pajpoojpuy)  SJUDUISIAUJ [D21PIN afi1 Anpgory 2ounAnSUf SutioourSuzg Apadoag sajo1od uoyID 1€20T 19quIada(] 1€
D.12UL) 1010 pup 2ULIDH
SJuIUISIAUT [021pII\ pup ofIT 0UDANSUL YSIL [D12UIL)

(PANUIU0I) JWOIUT JO JUIWIIE)S PIJEPI[OSUOD [EIUIWIIS

(panunuod) NOLLVINHOANI LNANODHS

(e

0t

$70T 1oquiadd(] | € papud Jeak ay) I0j pue Je Sy
SINANALVLS TVIONVNIJ ddLvdI'TOSNOD OL S41ON

SaLIRIpISqNS S)1 pue "J'D'S Y dnoin soueinsuy Jyno



69

€LT108 179°LS8 L06TH] SL6'LPL 91€°86€ 0€T'S9¥ 050°09¢ 9V PHT SonI[Iqel] [e10],
9IFSLI'T LLY'LET'L 9LEITT S8LSTT €€V 799 L69'LYL L09°68C S61v9T SJOSSE [B10],

S.000 dY $.000 Ay S.000dy 5000 A S.000dy $.000 A S.000dy $.000 A

£aoc ¥aoc £aoc reoc £coc ¥aoc £coc raoc

miox $21L.UN0D) FW 42130 saLpuno) HHOH jmmnyy

90T'1T T06'ST ¥8ESI 60S°91 €15°81 GIL'EL (169°T1) (90€°p) Auedwio) yuared ay) jo s1opjoy Anbs 01 ajqeInqLuye 1edk o) 10J 1JOIJ
62567 T8°1I€ SOT'LI 1€9°LT LE6YT 88181 (€19°C1) (L6T'P) potsad sy 10§ 31jo1g
0LT6€ 90S‘T€ 0659 079°8 991°CT €L6'91 Y1501 €16°S JNSAI 3ITAISS ddUEINSU]

5.000 dY $.000 S.000 Ay 5000 A S.000dy 5000 Al S.000dyY S.000 Al

£coc reoc £coc reoc £coc reoc £coc reoc

mior sarpuno)) FW 42410 $21LUN0D) HDHD mny
uoneuriojul diqdea3osn o)
‘syuowdas om) Arewrid oy) Jo Aue 03 9181 10U S0P SONIAIIOR 39S} d0UIs 1030180 PIjROO[[eun UIYIM PIlIodar dIe SONIAIIOR SJUSWISIAUL 0} Sune[dI saoue[eqg
€LT°108 YLELS] - LESOTI S0S0I1 11L°sT 9€6' 7€ L1V'L9 69%°C6 P8IV 061°0€ SaNI[IqeI] JusW g
9TH'SLI‘T €57°98¢ ¥26°6€S 810°89 96¥°€€ ILSPT 088°6 10¥%S €9T°1S 10€°S 6LTTI $19s5E JUSWSoS
5,000 dY $.000 dY 5,000 A 5,000 AN 5,000 dY 5,000 AN $.000 d¥ S.000 dY $.000 d¥ 5.000 Ay 5.000 A
1oL paoo]pur) SpudMIS2AUT [D21PIN afiT Aupqory 2oupnsuy Buri2ourdug Apadoag sajoryaa uonpIAD (pAre1say)
[DA2UDL) A0JON pup UL €207 Iquido( [€
SpuauIs2AUT [D21p2JN puv 2fi'T 20UDANSUL YS1d [DI2UDL)
179°LS8 959002 - €78°001 9€ 101 1€1°T€ 19C°1¢ SSS'LS L8S'L¥1 161‘Tvl €S0°1€ SanI[Iqe] Juew3ag
LLY'LETT se'she TI1°66S LTS'€9 090°9€ SLT6I IS6TI S66'VE PSI‘S0T 869'8 €SS°€T SJoSsE JUAWSg
$.000 AX $.000 AX $.000 A $.000 A $.000 aX $.000 A $.000 A $.000 AX $.000 Al 5.000 AX 5.000 Al
miof paoojwun SpUUISIAUT AP Eliss &gy 20upnsuy SuraaurSug Apadoag sao124 uoyvIAD $20T PqURR( 1€
I2UID) JOJOW puv durm
SjuUISIAU] 021pay puv 2f1'7 20UnINSUl YS1L [DI2UIL)

uonisod [BIDURUL JO JUIUII)E)S PIJBPI[OSUOD JUIWSIS (q

(panunuod) NOLLVINHOANI INANDHS 07

$70T 1oquIadd(J | € papus Jeak ay) I0j pue Je sy

SINHNALVLS TVIONVNIA d4LVAI'TOSNOD OL SHLON

SOLIBIPISQNS

S pue "d"D’'S " dnoin doueinsu] Jno



Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

21. STATUTORY GUARANTEES

The following amounts are held in Kuwait as security based on the order of the Minister of Commerce and Industry
in accordance with the Ministerial Decree No. 27 of 1966 and its amendments:

2024 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s
Current accounts and deposits at banks 13,979 14,362
13,979 14,362

Statutory guarantees of KD 81,015 thousand (2023: KD 81,067 thousand) are held outside the State of Kuwait as
security for the subsidiary companies’ activities in accordance with regulatory requirements of the countries in
which subsidiaries are located.

22. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the reporting date, the Group is contingently liable in respect of letters of guarantee and other guarantees
amounting to KD 105,641 thousand (2023: KD 106,115 thousand).

The Group operates in the insurance industry and is subject to legal proceedings in the normal course of business.
While it is not practicable to forecast or determine the final results of all pending or threatened legal proceedings,
management does not believe that such proceedings (including litigation) will have a material effect on its results
and financial position.

23. RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Governance framework

The Group’s risk and financial management objective is to protect the Group’s shareholders from events that
hinder the sustainable achievement of financial performance objectives, including failing to exploit opportunities.
Risk management also protects policyholders’ fund by ensuring that all liabilities towards the policyholders are
fulfilled in duly matter. Key management recognises the critical importance of having efficient and effective risk
management systems in place.

The Group established a risk management function with clear terms of reference from the Parent Company’s
board of directors, its committees and the associated executive management committees. The risk management
function will support the Parent Company as well as the subsidiaries in all risk management practices. This
supplemented with a clear organisational structure that document delegated authorities and responsibilities from
the board of directors to executive and senior managers.

(b) Regulatory framework

Law No. 125 0f 2019, and its Executive by law, and the rules, Decisions, Circulars and regulations issued by the
Insurance Regulatory Unit (IRU) provide the regulatory framework for the insurance industry in Kuwait will be
effective, which state that all insurance companies operating in Kuwait are required to follow these rules and
regulations.

The following are the key regulations governing the operation of the Group:
For the life Insurance Companies KD 500,000 FD under the ministerial name to be retained in Kuwait.
For the Non-life Insurance Companies KD 500,000 FD under the ministerial name to be retained in
Kuwait.
For the Life and Non-life Insurance Companies KD 1,000,000 FD under the ministerial name to be
retained in Kuwait.
In addition, all insurance companies to maintain a provision of 20% from the gross premiums written
after excluding the reinsurance share.

The Group’s Governance, Risk Management and Compliance (G.R.C.) sector is responsible for monitoring
compliance with the above regulations and has delegated authorities and responsibilities from the board of
directors to ensure compliance.
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23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The Group’s internal audit and quality control department is responsible for monitoring compliance with the above
regulations and has delegated authorities and responsibilities from the board of directors to ensure compliance.

() Capital management objectives, policies and approach
The Group has established the following capital management objectives, policies and approach to manage the
risks that affect its capital position.

Capital management objectives
The capital management objectives are:

To maintain the required level of financial stability of the Group thereby providing a degree of security
to policyholders.

To allocate capital efficiently and support the development of business by ensuring that returns on
capital employed meet the requirements of its capital providers and of its shareholders.

To retain financial flexibility by maintaining strong liquidity and access to a range of capital markets.

To align the profile of assets and liabilities taking account of risks inherent in the business.

To maintain financial strength to support new business growth and to satisfy the requirements of the
policyholders, regulators and shareholders.

To maintain strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business objectives and
maximise shareholders value.

To allocate capital towards the regional expansion where the ultimate goal is to spread the risk and
maximize the shareholders returns through obtaining the best return on capital.

The operations of the Group are also subject to regulatory requirements within the jurisdictions where it operates.
Such regulations not only prescribe approval and monitoring of activities, but also impose certain restrictive
provisions (e.g. capital adequacy) to minimise the risk of default and insolvency on the part of the insurance
companies to meet unforeseen liabilities as these arise.

In reporting financial strength, capital and solvency is measured using the rules prescribed by the Insurance
Regulatory Unit (IRU). These regulatory capital tests are based upon required levels of solvency capital and a
series of prudent assumptions in respect of the type of business written.

Capital management policies

The Group’s capital management policy for its insurance and non-insurance business is to hold sufficient capital
to cover the statutory requirements based on the Insurance Regulatory Unit, including any additional amounts
required by the regulator as well as keeping a capital buffer above the minimum regulatory requirements, where
the Group operates to maintain a high economic capital for the unforeseen risks.

Capital management approach
The Group seeks to optimize the structure and sources of capital to ensure that it consistently maximises returns
to the shareholders and secure the policyholder’s fund.

The Group’s approach to managing capital involves managing assets, liabilities and risks in a co-ordinated way,
assessing shortfalls between reported and required capital levels (by each regulated entity) on a regular basis and
taking appropriate actions to influence the capital position of the Group in the light of changes in economic
conditions and risk characteristics through the Group’s internal Capital Model. An important aspect of the Group’s
overall capital management process is the setting of target risk adjusted rates of return which are aligned to
performance objectives and ensure that the Group is focused on the creation of value for shareholders.

The capital requirements are routinely forecasted on a periodic basis using the Group’s internal Capital Model
and assessed against both the forecasted available capital and the expected internal rate of return including risk
and sensitivity analyses. The process is ultimately subject to approval by the board.
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23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Insurance risk

Insurance risk is the risk arising from the uncertainty around the actual experience and/or policyholder behaviour
being materially different than expected at the inception of an insurance contract. These uncertainties include the
amount and timing of cash flows from premiums, commissions, expenses, claims and claim settlement expenses
paid or received under a contract.

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of probability is applied to pricing and provisioning, the
principal risk that the Group faces under its insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments
exceed the estimated amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur because the frequency or severity of
claims and benefits are greater than the estimate. Insurance events are random and the actual number and amount
of claims and benefits will vary from year to year from the estimate established using statistical techniques.

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar insurance contracts, the smaller the relative variability
about the expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified portfolio is less likely to be affected across
the board by a change in any subset of the portfolio. The Group has developed its insurance underwriting strategy
to diversify the type of insurance risks accepted and within each of these categories to achieve a sufficiently large
population of risks to reduce the variability of the expected outcome.

Frequency and severity of claims

Frequency and severity of claims
The Group manages risks through its underwriting strategy, adequate reinsurance arrangements and proactive
claims handling. The underwriting strategy attempts to ensure that the underwritten risks are well diversified in
terms of type and amount of risk, line of business and geography. Underwriting limits are in place to enforce
appropriate risk selection criteria.

The Group has the right not to renew individual policies, to re-price the risk, to impose deductibles and to reject
the payment of a fraudulent claim. Insurance contracts also entitle the Group to pursue third parties for payment
of some or all costs (for example, subrogation). Furthermore, the Group’s strategy limits the total exposure to any
one territory and the exposure to any one line of business.

The reinsurance arrangements include excess and catastrophe coverage. The effect of such reinsurance
arrangements is that the Group should not suffer net insurance losses more than the limit defined in the Risk
appetite statement in any one event. The Group has survey units dealing with the mitigation of risks surrounding
claims. This unit investigates and recommends ways to improve risk claims. The risks are frequently reviewed
individually and adjusted to reflect the latest information on the underlying facts, current law, jurisdiction,
contractual terms and conditions, and other factors. The Group actively manages and pursues early settlements of
claims to reduce its exposure to unpredictable developments.

Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments

Claims on insurance contracts are payable on a claims-occurrence basis. The Group is liable for all insured events
that occurred during the term of the contract, even if the loss is discovered after the end of the contract term. As
a result, certain claims are settled over a long period of time and element of the claims provision include incurred
but not reported claims (IBNR). The estimation of IBNR is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertainty
than the estimation of the cost of settling claims already notified to the Group, where information about the claim
event is available. IBNR claims may not be apparent to the insured until many years after the event that gave rise
to the claims. For some insurance contracts, the IBNR proportion of the total liability is high and will typically
display greater variations between initial estimates and final outcomes because of the greater degree of difficulty
of estimating these liabilities and changing situation during the claim evaluation. In estimating the liability for the
cost of reported claims not yet paid, the Group considers information available from loss adjusters and information
on the cost of settling claims with similar characteristics in previous periods. Large claims are assessed on a case-
by-case basis or projected separately in order to allow for the possible distortive effect of their development and
incidence on the rest of the portfolio.
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23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Insurance risk (continued)

Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claim payments (continued)

The estimated cost of claims includes direct expenses to be incurred in settling claims, net of the expected
subrogation value and other recoveries. The Group takes all reasonable steps to ensure that it has appropriate
information regarding its claims’ exposures. However, given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it
is possible that the final outcome will prove to be different from the original liability established. The amount of
insurance claims is in certain cases sensitive to the level of court awards and to the development of legal precedent
on matters of contract and tort.

Where possible, the Group adopts multiple techniques to estimate the required level of provisions. This provides
a greater understanding of the trends inherent in the experience being projected. The projections given by the
various methodologies also assist in estimating the range of possible outcomes. The most appropriate estimation
technique is selected considering the characteristics of the business class and the extent of the development of
each accident year.

In calculating the estimated cost of unpaid claims (both reported and not), the Group’s estimation techniques are
a combination of loss-ratio-based estimates and an estimate based upon actual claims experience where greater
weight is given to actual claims experience as time passes. The initial loss-ratio estimate is an important
assumption in the estimation technique and is based on previous years’ experience, adjusted for factors such as
premium rate changes, anticipated market experience and claims inflation.

Process used to decide on assumptions

The risks associated with insurance contracts are complex and subject to a number of variables that complicate
quantitative sensitivity analysis. The Group uses assumptions based on a mixture of internal and market data to
measure its claims liabilities. Internal data is derived mostly from the Group’s claims reports and screening of the
actual insurance contracts carried out at the end of the reporting period to derive data for the contracts held. The
Group has reviewed the individual contracts and in particular, the line of business in which the insured companies
operate and the actual exposure years of claims. This information is used to develop scenarios related to the latency
of claims that are used for the projections of the ultimate number of claims.

The Group uses several statistical methods and actuarial techniques to incorporate the various assumptions made
in order to estimate the ultimate cost of claims. The three methods more commonly used are the Chain Ladder,
Expected Loss Ratio and the Bornhuetter-Ferguson methods.

Chain-ladder methods may be applied to premiums, paid claims or incurred claims (for example, paid claims plus
case estimates). The basic technique involves the analysis of historical claims development factors and the
selection of estimated development factors based on this historical pattern. The selected development factors are
then applied to cumulative claims data for each accident year that is not yet fully developed to produce an
estimated ultimate claims cost for each accident year.

Chain-ladder techniques are most appropriate for those accident years and classes of business that have reached a
relatively stable development pattern. Chain-ladder techniques are less suitable in cases in which the insurer does
not have a developed claims history for a particular class of business or involves significant deal of changes in
terms of process.

Expected Loss Ratio method (ELR) is used to determine the projected amount of claims, relative to earned
premiums. ELR method is used for line of businesses that lack past data, while the chain ladder method is used
for stable businesses. In certain instances, such as new lines of business, the ELR method may be the only possible
way to figure out the appropriate level of loss reserves required.
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23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Insurance risk (continued)

Process used to decide on assumptions (continued)

The Bornhuetter-Ferguson method uses a combination of a benchmark or market-based estimate and an estimate
based on claims experience. The former is based on a measure of exposure such as premiums; the latter is based
on the paid or incurred claims to date. The two estimates are combined using a formula that gives more weight to
the experience-based estimate as time passes. This technique has been used in situations in which developed
claims experience was not available for the projection (recent accident years or new classes of business).

The choice of selected results for each accident year of each class of business depends on an assessment of the
technique that has been most appropriate to observed historical developments. In certain instances, this has meant
that different techniques or combinations of techniques have been selected for individual accident years or groups
of accident years within the same class of business.

The Group uses standard actuarial techniques to estimate its loss provisions as mentioned above. Actuarial
techniques and/or methodologies used to estimate the loss provisions could vary based on the specific nature of
the lines of business. The general excluding motor and group life business typically have a lower frequency and
higher severity of claims while the medical and motor business are more attritional in nature i.e., higher frequency
and lower severity. For the attritional lines, any inconsistencies in the claims processes could impact the loss
development experience assumed in the technical provisions calculation and hence is one of the key assumptions
in the estimation of the technical provisions. For the less attritional lines, typically the loss ratio assumptions under
the Bornhuetter-Ferguson technique is a key assumption in the estimation of the technical provisions. The Group
monitors closely and validates the key assumptions in the estimation of the technical provisions on a periodic
basis.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

223 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Insurance risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis for contracts measured under PAA

The following table presents information on how reasonably possible changes in assumptions made by the Group
with regard to underwriting risk variables impact LIC and profit or loss and equity before and after risk mitigation
by reinsurance contracts held. These contracts are measured under the PAA and, thus, only the LIC component of
insurance liabilities is sensitive to possible changes in underwriting risk variables.

2024 2023
LIC as at 31 LICas at 31

December Impact on LIC December Impact on LIC

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
Insurance contract liabilities 486,877 449,707
Reinsurance contract assets (271,725) (297,749)
Net insurance contract liabilities 215,152 151,958
Best estimate reserves- 5% increase
Insurance contract liabilities 19,875 19,214
Reinsurance contract assets (9,811) (8,568)
Net insurance contract liabilities 10,064 10,646
Risk adjustment - 5% increase
Insurance contract liabilities 1,804 1,910
Reinsurance contract assets (864) (856)
Net insurance contract liabilities 941 1,054
Yield curve S0bps
Insurance contract liabilities (1,492) (1,341)
Reinsurance contract assets 694 641
Net insurance contract liabilities (798) (700)

Sensitivity analysis for contracts not measured under PAA

The following tables present information on how reasonably possible changes in assumptions made by the Group
with regard to underwriting risk variables impact product line insurance liabilities and profit or loss and equity
before and after risk mitigation by reinsurance contracts held. The analysis is based on a change in an assumption
while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the

assumptions may be correlated.

Insurance contract liabilities

Mortality increases by 10% VFA: the impact of mortality will not

be significant, but it will slightly
increase the FCF due to the
unfavorable impact on cash outflows
and in contrary, the CSM will be
reduced.

GMM: the impact will be quite
significant for Term life portfolios
where the increase in mortality will
significantly increase the expected cash
outflow which will increase the FCF and
accordingly reduces the CSM.

Reinsurance contract assets
VFA: the impact of mortality will not
be significant, but it will slightly reduce
due to the expectation to increase the
cash outflow and in contrary, the CSM
will be increasing more or less with the
same amount of increase in the FCF.
GMM: the impact will be quite
significant for Term life portfolios
where the increase in mortality will
significantly increase the expected cash
outflow which will increase the FCF and
accordingly reduces the CSM
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Insurance risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis for contracts not measured under PAA (continued)

Insurance contract liabilities

Lapse/Surrender increase in VFA: the increase in lapse rates will lead

rates by 5%

Expense loadings by 5%

to higher cash outflows related to
fulfilling insurance obligations and
decrease the cash inflow related to future
premiums and hence, the expected future
profits margin will reduce. However, the
impact on CSM shall depend on the aging
of the portfolio.

GMM: Similarly, the increase in lapse
rates will lead to higher cash outflows
related to fulfilling insurance obligations
and decrease the cash inflow related to
future premiums and hence, the expected
future profit margin will reduce.

VFA: the increase in expenses will lead to
higher administrative and operational
costs associated with managing the
insurance contracts, which will increase
the fulfillment cashflow (FCF) and hence,
the Contractual Service Margin (CSM)
would decrease.

GMM: Under GMM, the increase in
expense loadings will also lead to higher
administrative and operational costs,
which will increase the FCF and hence, a
decrease in the CSM.

Yield Curve rates increase by VFA: the increase in the yield curve rates

50bps.

will lead to higher discounting factors
applied to future cashflows associated
with insurance liabilities. As a result, the
present value of future cash outflows
would decrease (more than the decrease in
cash inflows) leading to a further
reduction in the FCF and hence, a higher
CSM.

GMM: Similarly, the increase in the yield
curve rates will lead to higher discounting
factors applied to future cashflows
associated with insurance liabilities. As a
result, the present value of future cash
outflows would decrease (more than the
decrease in cash inflows) leading to a
further reduction in the FCF and hence, a
higher CSM.

Reinsurance contract assets
VFA: Changes in lapse rates will
indirectly impact reinsurance contract
assets through their effect on the
underlying insurance contracts. If higher
lapse rates lead to increased cash
outflows  for fulfilling insurance
obligations, this could indirectly affect
the FCF associated with reinsurance
contract assets through reducing the
inforce business on the long term so
reducing the expected CSM and FCF.
GMM: Similarly, under GMM, changes
in lapse rates would affect the fulfillment
cash flow (FCF) associated with
reinsurance contract assets, primarily
driven by changes in the underlying
insurance contracts. An increase in lapse
rates could lead to higher cash outflows,
impacting the FCF and CSM of
reinsurance contracts.

N/A

VFA: The impact of a yield curve increase
on reinsurance contract assets would be
indirect under VFA,

GMM: Similar to its impact on insurance
contract liabilities, under GMM, a 50 basis
points increase in the yield curve would
lead to higher discount rates applied to
future cash inflows from insurance
contracts. This would increase the present
value of future cash inflows, reducing the
Fulfillment Cash Flow ( CF) associated
with reinsurance contract assets, and
decrease, the Contractual Service Margin
(CSM).

No changes were made by the Group in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the above analysis.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(d) Insurance risk (continued)

Concentration of insurance risk
The Group’s underwriting business is mainly based within GCC and Europe countries

In common with other insurance companies, in order to minimise financial exposure arising from large insurance
claims, the Group, in the normal course of business, enters into arrangement with other parties for reinsurance
purposes.

To minimise its exposure to significant losses from reinsurer insolvencies, the Group evaluates the financial
condition of its reinsurers and monitors concentrations of credit risk arising from similar geographic regions,
activities or economic characteristics of the reinsurers. Reinsurance ceded contracts do not relieve the Group from
its obligations to policyholders. The Group remains liable to its policyholders for the portion reinsured to the
extent that any reinsurer does not meet the obligations assumed under the reinsurance agreements.

The geographical concentration of the Group’s insurance contract liabilities is noted below. The disclosure is
based on the countries where the business is written:

Non Life Life Total Non Life Life Total
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
GCC Countries
Insurance contract liabilities- net 412,155 90,819 502,974 394,886 69,774 464,660
Reinsurance contract assets- net 182,944 33,000 215,944 156,222 25,180 181,402
Non GCC countries
Insurance contract liabilities- net 90,832 11,676 102,508 89,329 16,887 106,216
Reinsurance contract assets- net 24,831 957 25,788 24,779 35 24,814

The line of business of insurance and reinsurance contract assets and liabilities presented in note 8.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e) Financial risks (continued)

(1) Credit risk (continued)

The following table represents the aging analysis of premiums and insurance balance receivable that are not past

due nor impaired:

31 December 2024:
Insurance Contract Assets

Reinsurers Contract Assets

Total

31 December 2023:
Insurance Contract Assets

Reinsurers Contract Assets

Total

2) Liquidity risk

Uptol Within 1-3 Within 3-12  More than
month months months 1 year Total
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
5,962 17,799 2,475 2,785 29,021
2,156 70,923 143,235 47,881 264,195
8,118 88,722 145,710 50,666 293,216
Uptol Within 1-3 Within 3-12  More than
month months months 1 year Total
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
4,892 84 1,850 144 6,970
50,044 23,478 89,688 79,059 242,269
54,936 23,562 91,538 79,203 249,239

Liquidity risk is the risk that an enterprise will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments
associated with financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly
at close to its fair value. Management monitors liquidity requirements on a daily basis and ensures that sufficient
funds are available. The Group has sufficient liquidity and, therefore, does not resort to borrowings in the normal

course of business.

The table below summarises the maturity of the financial liabilities of the Group based on remaining undiscounted
contractual obligations for 31 December. As the Group does not have any interest-bearing liabilities (except for
long term loans and bank overdraft), the figures below agree directly to the consolidated statement of financial

position.

31 December 2024:

Insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance contract liabilities
Short term loans

Long term loans

Income Taxes Payable

Other liabilities

Lease liabilities

31 December 2023:

Insurance contract liabilities
Reinsurance contract liabilities
Bank Overdraft

Short term loans

Long term loans

Income Taxes Payable

Other liabilities

Lease liabilities

Upto3 Within3-12 Within 1-5
Month months years Over 5 years Total
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
105,913 420,274 103,789 20,577 650,553
9,677 11,139 949 812 22,577
5,913 11,942 - - 17,855
- - 38,199 - 38,199
885 4,844 6,253 4 11,986
19,492 23,572 52,906 16,889 112,859
199 878 3,897 316 5,290
142,079 472,649 205,993 38,598 859,319
Upto3 Within3-12 Within 1-5
Month months years Over 5 years Total
KD 000'’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
144,224 264,517 137,417 46,166 592,325
26,281 7,855 1,759 300 36,195
3,082 - - - 3,082
1,227 3,844 - - 5,071
- - 56,055 - 56,055
849 4,648 6,000 4 11,501
12,819 38,227 34,660 10,230 95,936
180 457 3,283 1,178 5,097
188,662 319,547 239,173 57,878 805,261
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(e) Financial risks (continued)
3) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices.

Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and equity rate price risk. The Group
has developed its policies and procedures to enhance the Group’s mitigation of market risk.

(i) Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group’s principal transactions are carried out in KD and its exposure to foreign exchange risk arises primarily
with respect to US dollar, Bahraini dinar, Saudi riyal, Egyptian pound, Jordanian dinar, Euro, and Pound sterling.

The Group’s financial assets are primarily denominated in the same currencies as its insurance and investment
contract liabilities, which mitigate the foreign currency exchange rate risk. Accordingly, the main foreign
exchange risk arises from recognised assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than those in which
insurance and investment contract liabilities are expected to be settled. The currency risk is effectively managed
by the Group through financial instruments as well as the Group’s Asset Liability Management model.

The table below summarises the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at reporting date by
categorising assets and liabilities by major currencies.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(e) Financial risks (continued)
3) Market risk (continued)

0] Currency risk (continued)

The analysis below is performed for reasonably possible movements in key variables with all other variables held
constant, showing the material impact on profit (due to changes in fair value of currency sensitive monetary assets

and liabilities).

2024 2023
Change in Impact on Impacton Impact on Impact on
variables profit equity profit equity
KD 000’s KD 000°’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
USD +5% 3,659 12,606 1,385 10,863
BD +5% 2,036 3,620 817 954
EGP +5% 507 397 1,370 10
ID +5% 473 445 1,057 123
SAR +5% 3,399 3,851 1,375 2,744
(ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of

changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate risk guideline requires it to manage interest rate risk by maintaining an appropriate mix
of fixed and variable rate instruments. The guideline also requires it to manage the maturities of interest-bearing
financial assets and interest-bearing financial liabilities. The Group is not exposed to interest rate risk with respect

of its term deposits carrying fixed interest rates.

The Group has no significant concentration of interest rate risk.

The analysis below is performed for reasonably possible movements in key variables with all other variables held
constant, showing the impact on profit. The correlation of variables will have a significant effect in determining
the ultimate impact on interest rate risk, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in variables, variables had
to be changed on an individual basis. It should be noted that movements in these variables are non-linear.

2024 2023
Impact on Impact on
Change in profit Change in profit
Currency variables before tax variables  before tax
KD 000’s KD 000’s
KD +50 bps 84  +50 bps 147
USD +50 bps 455  +50 bps 415
BD +50 bps 153  +50 bps 154
Others +50 bps 1,176  +50 bps 705

The method used for deriving sensitivity information and significant variables did not change from the previous

year.
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

23. RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e) Financial risks (continued)

3) Market risk (continued)

(iii) Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk with respect to its equity investments. Equity investments are classified
either as investments at fair value through profit or loss (including trading securities) or available for sale
investments.

To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio.
Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Group management and the

Investment Strategy and Policy.

The equity price risk sensitivity is determined on the following market indices:

2024 2023
% %
Kuwait market 1% -1%
Rest of GCC market 29% 26%
MENA 56% 55%
Other international markets 19.6% 0.75%

The above percentages have been determined based on basis of the average market movements over a year period
from January to December 2024 and 2023. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk at the reporting date. The analysis reflects the impact of changes to equity prices in
accordance with the above-mentioned equity price risk sensitivity assumptions.

Profit for the year Equity
2024 2023 2024 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Financial assets at fair value through OCI - - 5,160 2,240
Investment carried at fair value through profit or loss 16,124 10,243 - -

The table below presents the geographical concentration of financial instruments exposed to equity price risk:
31 December 2024 GCC MENA Europe Total
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Financial assets at fair value through OCI 3,304 2,787 13,582 19,673
Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss 27,337 14,834 - 42,171
30,641 17,621 13,582 61,844

31 December 2023 GCC MENA Europe Total
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
Financial assets at fair value through OCI 3,100 2,437 9,991 15,528
Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss 19,668 9,152 - 28,820
22,768 11,588 9,991 44,347
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

24. MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The maturity profile is monitored by management to ensure adequate liquidity is maintained.

Upto3 Within3-12 Within 1-5
months years Over 5 years Total
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
31 December 2024:
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 57,075 54,405 44,209 5,158 160,847
Time deposits 6,606 1,824 27,137 1,422 36,989
Insurance contract assets 5,961 17,799 2,475 2,785 29,021
Reinsurance contract assets 2,154 70,923 143,235 47,881 264,195
Investments carried at fair value
through profit or loss 30,351 21,118 26,059 43,710 121,238
Investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income 34,297 34,021 231,268 74,511 374,097
Other assets 8,907 13,365 5,806 - 28,078
Debt instruments at amortised cost 958 10,726 50,820 10,491 72,995
Deferred tax assets from foreign
subsidiaries - 261 2,305 - 2,566
Right of use assets 108 552 2,926 2,311 5,897
Investments in associates - - - 24,126 24,126
Investment properties - - 1,241 5,415 6,656
Property and equipment 35,921 35,921
Intangible assets 15 65 2,102 39,336 41,518
Goodwill - - - 33,395 33,395
Loans secured by life insurance
policies - - - 138 138
Total 289,560 271,853 392,992 283,272 1,237,677
LIABILITIES
Insurance contract liabilities 105,913 410,132 98,178 20,280 634,503
Reinsurance contract liabilities 9,677 11,073 900 811 22,461
Bank Overdraft - - - - -
Term loans 5,250 10,212 35,404 - 50,866
Income tax payable 885 4,844 6,253 4 11,986
Deferred tax liabilities from foreign
subsidiaries - 1,038 701 669 2,408
Other liabilities 19,492 23,572 52,906 16,889 112,859
Provision for end of service benefits - - - 17,313 17,313
Lease liabilities 197 867 3,849 312 5,225
Total 141,414 461,738 198,191 56,278 857,621
Net Gap 148,146 (189,885) 194,801 226,994 380,056
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24, MATURITY ANALYSIS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Upto3 Within3-12 Within 1-5
Month months years Over 5 years Total
KD 000’s KD 000's KD 000’s KD 000's KD 000’s

31 December 2023:
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 121,311 34,159 935 - 156,405
Time deposits - 42,557 20,117 - 62,674
Insurance contract assets 4,975 1,850 889 -744 6,970
Reinsurance contract assets 73,521 89,689 43,390 35,669 242,269
Investments carried at fair value
through profit or loss 35,037 23,286 24412 14,834 97,569
Investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income 10,842 42,994 204,439 74,534 332,809
Other assets 7,534 12,991 6,961 1,302 28,788
Debt instruments at amortised cost 14,613 22,267 22,577 17,438 76,895
Deferred tax assets from foreign
subsidiaries - 329 2,902 - 3,231
Right of use assets - 408 3,417 1,523 5,348
Investments in associates - - - 24,297 24,297
Investment properties - 863 61 7,430 8,354
Property and equipment - - - 38,993 38,993
Intangible assets - 173 3,247 42,923 46,343
Goodwill - - - 33,319 33,319
Loans secured by life insurance
policies 109 265 245 - 619
Disposal group held for sale - 10,533 - - 10,533
Total 267,942 282,364 333,592 291,518 1,175,416
LIABILITIES
Insurance contract liabilities 144,224 258,134 129,988 45,500 577,846
Reinsurance contract liabilities 26,281 7,808 1,668 296 36,053
Bank Overdraft 3,082 - - - 3,082
Term loans - 10,712 42,404 - 53,116
Income tax payable 849 4,648 6,000 4 11,501
Deferred tax liabilities from foreign
subsidiaries - 697 471 450 1,618
Other liabilities 12,819 38,227 34,660 10,230 95,936
Provision for end of service benefits - - - 17,087 17,087
Lease liabilities 178 451 3,242 1,163 5,034
Total 187,433 320,677 218,433 74,730 801,273
Net Gap 80,509 (38,313) 115,159 216,788 374,143
25. Termination of Insurance Services Contract

The Parent Company had entered into a contractual agreement with the Ministry of Health (MOH) on 16
September 2022 to deliver Health Insurance Services for Kuwaiti retired citizens (Afya 3). The contract was valid
for a period of two years ended 16 September 2024 with a provisional clause to extend the contract up to one year
period ending 16 September 2025.

On 12 September 2024, the Parent Company received a formal letter from the MOH, notifying with the
termination of the contract. Accordingly, the Parent Company has ceased the revenue recognition of Insurance
service income effective from the date of termination. For the inpatient members who were admitted as of the date
of termination, the Parent Company continued to provide the insurance services for these members until they have
discharged by the Healthcare service providers.

We hereby disclose that this termination has no legal or financial impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 as the Parent Company has already rendered the full services
required as per the contractual agreement with the MOH.
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26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related parties represent associated companies, major shareholders, directors and key management personnel of
the Group, and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies

and terms of these transactions are approved by the Parent Company’s management.

Transactions with related parties included in the consolidated statement of income are as follows:

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Insurance Insurance Insurance Insurance
revenue service expenses revenue service expenses
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
Shareholders - - 114 3)
Directors and key management personnel - - 157 (23)
Entities under common control 8,812 (7,357) 13,256 (9,340)
Associates 181 “) 132 (15)
Other related parties 3,465 (421) - -
12,458 (7,782) 4,248 (9,381)
Balances with related parties included in the consolidated statement of financial position are as follows:
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Amounts Amounts
Amounts owed owed to Financial owed to  Financial assets
by related related assets at Amounts owed by related at FVTPL
parties Parties FVTPL related parties parties
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
Shareholders 1,260 - 1,710 254 - -
Directors and key management
personnel 26 - - 270 5) -
Entities under common control 1,440 218 - 1,310 (943) -
Associate 336 - - 491 - -
Other related parties 1,909 1,014 - - - -
4,971 1,232 1,710 2,325 (948) -
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s
Letter of guarantee - 52,139
- 52,139
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Gulf Insurance Group K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

27. SUBSIDIARIES COMPANIES (continued)

Material partly owned subsidiary:

The Group has concluded that Bahrain Kuwaiti Insurance Company B.S.C. (“BKIC”) and Gulf Insurance Group
(Saudi Joint Stock Company) are the only subsidiaries with non-controlling interests that are material to the
consolidated financial statements. Financial information of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling
interests are provided below:

Accumulated balances of material non-controlling interests:

2024 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s
GIG Bahrain Company B.S.C. 18,087 17,917
Gulf Insurance Group (Saudi Joint Stock Company) 49,272 48,668
Profit allocated to material non-controlling interests:
2024
KD 000’s KD 000’s
GIG Bahrain Company B.S.C. 1,805 2,174
Gulf Insurance Group (Saudi Joint Stock Company) 2,964 4,250
Summarised financial information of these subsidiaries is provided below:
2024 2023
GIG GIG GIG
Bahrain Saudi GIG Bahrain Saudi
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
Statement of income
Income 122,803 133,344 119,311 161,879
Expenses (118,940) (127,416) (114,533) (153,377)
Profit for the year 3,863 5,928 4,778 8,502
Total comprehensive income 3,639 6,475 4,662 7,338
Statement of financial position
2024 2023
GIG GIG GIG
Bahrain Saudi GIG Bahrain Saudi
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

ASSETS
Cash and bank balances 21,868 44,729 16,274 49,267
Time deposits - 8,745 12,345 17,505
Insurance contract assets 379 - 1,151 -
Reinsurance contract assets 52,622 16,297 43,142 28,654
Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss 10,781 6,249 8,026 6,013
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 52,385 138,828 44,817 126,452
Other assets 7,625 3,371 6,446 4,360
Debt instruments at amortised cost - - 963 -
Deferred tax assets from foreign subsidiaries - 619 - 603
Right of use assets 169 2,282 275 2,568
Investments in associates 337 - 320 -
Investment properties 1,602 - 2,254 -
Property and equipment 3,564 417 3,632 733
Intangible assets 1,280 14,869 1,239 17,361
Total assets 152,612 236,406 140,884 253,516
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27. SUBSIDIARIES COMPANIES (continued)
2024 2023
GIG GIG GIG
Bahrain Saudi GIG Bahrain Saudi
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
LIABILITIES
Insurance contract liabilities 103,664 115,508 92,260 134,068
Reinsurance contract liabilities 2,000 110 2,989 27
Income tax payable 137 6,249 64 6,868
Other liabilities 6,045 11,441 5,097 10,508
Provision for end of service benefits 1,585 2,378 1,416 2,243
Lease liabilities 177 2,177 288 2,466
Total liabilities 113,608 137,863 102,114 156,180
Total equity 39,004 98,543 38,770 97,336
28. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets carried at fair value.
Fair value measurement using
Quoted
prices Significant  Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
31 December 2024 Date of valuation Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
Investments at fair value through OCI
Quoted equity securities 31 December 2024 19,673 19,673 - -
Unquoted equity securities 31 December 2024 10,513 - - 10,513
Quoted bonds 31 December 2024 343,724 343,724 - -
Unquoted managed funds 31 December 2024 187 - 142 45
Investments carried at fair value
through profit or loss:
Quoted securities 31 December 2024 42,171 42,171 - -
Unquoted equity securities 31 December 2024 10,670 - 76 10,594
Managed funds of quoted Securities 31 December 2024 39,267 39,267 - -
Unquoted managed funds 31 December 2024 7,858 - 15 7,843
Quoted bonds 31 December 2024 16,972 16,972 - -
Unquoted bonds 31 December 2024 4,300 - - 4,300
Property and equipment
Land 31 December 2024 11,380 - - 11,380
Buildings 31 December 2024 19,654 - - 19,654
Investment properties 31 December 2024 6,656 - - 6,656
533,025 461,807 233 70,985
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28. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

31 December 2023

Investments at fair value through OCI
Quoted equity securities

Unquoted equity securities

Quoted managed funds

Quoted bonds

Unquoted managed funds

Investments carried at fair value
through profit or loss:

Quoted securities

Unquoted equity securities

Managed funds of quoted Securities

Unquoted managed funds

Quoted bonds

Unquoted bonds

Property and equipment
Land
Buildings

Investment properties

Fair value measurement using

Quoted
prices Significant Significant

in active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs

Date of valuation Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

31 December 2023 15,528 15,528 - -
31 December 2023 8,556 - - 8,556
31 December 2023 187 187 - -
31 December 2023 308,508 308,508 - -
31 December 2023 30 - - 30
31 December 2023 28,819 28,819 - -
31 December 2023 980 - - 980
31 December 2023 39,740 39,740 - -
31 December 2023 8,111 - 921 7,190
31 December 2023 7,479 7,479 - -
31 December 2023 4,300 - - 4,300
31 December 2023 12,466 - 12,466 -
31 December 2023 22,236 - 22,236 -
31 December 2023 8,354 - 8,354 -
465,294 400,261 43,977 21,056

The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing amount of level 3 financial assets which

are recorded at fair value.

Change in fair
Change in fair value recorded in
value recorded in  the consolidated
the c lidated of
At 1 statement of comprehensive Net additions and At 31 December
Year ended in 31 December 2024 January2024 income income disposals 2024
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
FVTOCI:
Unquoted equity securities 8,556 - 2,248 (291) 10,513
Unquoted managed funds 30 - 15 - 45
FVTPL:
Unquoted equity securities 9,120 37 - 1,511 10,594
Unquoted managed funds 7,190 (104) - 757 7,843
Unquoted bonds 4,300 - - - 4,300
29,196 (141) 2,263 1,977 33,295
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28. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

Change in fair
Change in fair  value recorded
value recorded in the
in the consolidated
consolidated statement of At 31
Year ended in 31 December At 1 statement of  comprehensive  Net additions December
2023 January2023 income income and disposals 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
FVTOCI:
Unquoted equity securities 9,109 - (552) (1) 8,556
Unquoted managed funds 34 4) - - 30
FVTPL:
Unquoted equity securities 9,240 (56) - (64) 9,120
Unquoted managed funds 6,823 487 - (120) 7,190
Unquoted bonds 4,300 - - - 4,300
29,506 427 (552) (185) 29,196

Description of significant unobservable inputs to valuation of financial assets:
Unquoted securities and unquoted managed funds are valued based on net assets value method using latest
available financial statements of the funds and securities, wherein the underlying assets are fair valued.

29. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to ensure that it maintains strong capital base and
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, issues
new shares or purchase/sale of treasury shares.

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023. The Group monitors its capital at the Group level and at each of its subsidiaries.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio “Financial Leverage Ratio”, which is net debt divided by total
capital plus net debt. The Group includes within net debt, credit facilities granted from banks (such as loans) and

debt securities issued (if exist). Capital represents equity after excluding non-controlling interest.

The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December was as follows:

2024 2023
KD 000’s KD 000’s

Credit facilities:
Bank overdraft - 3,082
Term loans 50,866 53,116
Net debt 50,866 56,198
Equity (excluding non-controlling interest and Subordinated perpetual

Tier 2 bonds) 242,559 236,259
Total capital and net debt 293,425 292,457
Gearing ratio 17.34% 19.22%
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29. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continued)

Liabilities arising from insurance contracts are usually checked against designated funds to policyholders as per
the regulators of each country of the Group’s operations and is monitored on periodic basis through an adequate
Asset Liability Model developed at Parent Company level as well as subsidiaries level.

Insurance and reinsurance payables are also monitored against insurance and reinsurance receivables.

All the above ratios are monitored on periodic basis and any breach (if exists) is directly reported to the key
management for their information and immediate actions.

30. COMPARATIVE RESTATEMENT

During the year, the Group reconsidered the presentation of certain transactions and balances in the consolidated
financial statements to ensure compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards. This resulted in a reclassification of
certain line items in the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the comparative figures have been
reclassified as presented below in accordance with International Accounting Standard 8 - Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and errors (“IAS 8%).

(1) In the previous year, interest income amounting to KD 29,927 thousand, was presented within “net investment
income” on the face of the consolidated statement of income. International Accounting Standard 1 - Presentation
of Financial Statements (“IAS 17) requires interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method to be
presented separately on the face of the statement of income. During the year, management considered this
requirement and reclassified interest income from “net Investment income™ to “interest income” on the face of
the consolidated statement of income.

(2) In the previous year, the share of results from investment in associates amounting to KD 2,318 thousand
respectively, was presented within “net investment income” on the face of the consolidated statement of income.
IAS 1 requires share of the profit or loss of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method
to be presented separately on the face of the statement of income. During the period, management considered the
above requirement and reclassified the share of results from investment in associates from “net Investment
income” to “share of results from investment in associates™ on the face of the consolidated statement of income.

(3) In the previous year, hyperinflation impact amounting to a gain of KD 2,457 thousand was presented
incorrectly as items that will not subsequently be reclassified to consolidated statement of income. International
Accounting Standard 21 - The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates (“IAS 21”) requires an entity to present
the amount, when management considers the hyperinflation impact as an exchange difference in OCI as Items
that are or may be subsequently reclassified to consolidated statement of income. Management has considered
this requirement and as a result reclassified hyperinflation impact accordingly in OCI.

(4) During the year, the Group identified that certain time deposits with original maturity of more than three
months amounting to KD 9,429 thousand as of 31 December 2023 were classified within cash and cash equivalents
on the face of consolidated statement of financial position and in the consolidated statement of cash flows.
Management considered the requirements of IAS 1 and International Accounting Standard 7 (“IAS 7”) and noted
that IAS 1 requires cash and cash equivalents to be presented in the consolidated statement of financial position
and to be the same as that presented in the consolidated statement of cash flows. Time deposits with maturity of
more than 3 months do not meet the definition of cash equivalents and should not be presented as part of cash and
cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows nor on the consolidated statement of financial
position. The time deposits with maturity of 3 months or more are now presented as a separate line item (labelled
“time deposits") in the consolidated statement of financial position and within the movement in time deposits
under operating cash flows in the statement of cash flows.

(5) In the previous year, income tax payable amounting to KD 11,501 thousand as at 31 December 2023 and KD
10,772 thousand as at 1 January 2023 were presented within “other liabilities” on the face of the consolidated
statement of financial position. IAS 1 requires current tax to be presented separately. Management considered this
requirement and reclassified income tax payable from “other liabilities” to be presented as a separate financial
statement line item.
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30. COMPARATIVE RESTATEMENT (continued)

(6) During the year, the Group identified a balance of KD 8,140 thousand as at 31 December 2023 and KD 7,531
thousand as at 1 January 2023 respectively classified within other assets representing an equity financial
instrument. IAS 1 requires financial assets that are dissimilar in nature from ‘other assets’ must be presented
separately when material on the face of the consolidated statement of financial position. Management considered
this requirement and reclassified the balance from “other assets” to “financial assets at fair value through profit
and loss”.

(7) In the previous year, right of use assets amounting to KD 5,348 thousand as at 31 December 2023 and KD
4,521 thousand as at 1 January 2023 respectively were classified within “other assets”. Moreover, lease liabilities
amounting to KD 5,034 thousand as at 31 December 2023 and KD 4,427 thousand at 1 January 2023 respectively
were classified within “other liabilities”. IFRS 16 requires right of use assets and lease liabilities to be presented
separately from other assets and other liabilities respectively. Management considered this requirement and
reclassified the right of use assets and lease liabilities to the face of the statement of financial position.

(8) In the previous period, deferred tax assets and liabilities amounting to KD 3,231 thousand and KD 1,618
thousand as at 31 December 2023 and KD 2,544 thousand and KD 573 as at 1 January 2023 were presented within
“other assets’ and “other liabilities” on the face of the consolidated statement of financial position. IAS 1 requires
deferred tax assets and liabilities to be presented separately. Management considered this requirement and
reclassified deferred tax assets and liabilities from “other assets’ and “other liabilities™ to be presented as a separate
financial statement line item.

(9) In the previous year, provision for end of service benefits amounting to KD 17,087 thousand as at 31 December
2023 and KD 15,509 thousand as at 1 January 2023 was classified within “other liabilities”. IAS 1 and 37 requires
provision for end of service benefits to be presented separately from “other liabilities”. Management considered
this requirement and reclassified the provision for end of service benefits as a separate line item on the face of the
statement of financial position.

(10) In prior year, in the statement of comprehensive income, changes in fair value amounting to KD 630 thousand
relating to debt instruments were incorrectly presented in OCI as ‘Items that will not subsequently be reclassified
to the consolidated statement of income. IAS 1 requires that OCI movements be disaggregated between those
which may be reclassified to the consolidated statement of income and those that will not. Management has now
reclassified this amount to ‘Items that are or may be subsequently reclassified to the consolidated statement of
income’.

(11) In the prior year, in the statement of comprehensive income, share of other comprehensive income of
associates amounting to KD 101 thousand was relating to items which may be reclassified to the consolidated
statement of income, was incorrectly presented as ‘Items that will not subsequently be reclassified to the
consolidated statement of income’. IAS 1 requires that OCI movements be disaggregated between those which
may be reclassified to the consolidated statement of income and those that will not. Management has now
reclassified this amount to ‘Items that are or may be subsequently reclassified to the consolidated statement of
income’.

(12) In the previous year, the Group had classified the loss on sale of a subsidiary as discontinued operations
amounting to KD 8,872 thousand. However, on reassessment during the year, the Group identified that the
subsidiary does not meet the definition of a discontinued operation as per IFRS 5 - Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations. The management considered this requirement and made the required
reclassifications.

(13) In the previous year, the Group had calculated the earning per share without considering the adjusting of the
interest of subordinated perpetual tier 2 bond from the profit attributable to equity holders of the Parent company
As per International Accounting Standard 33 (“IAS 33”) the earning per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to equity holders of the parent company after adjusting the interest and dividends for the preference
shares, resulting in a decrease of 12.11 fils per share from what was previously reported.

(14) The order of presentation of the Group’s assets and liabilities on the face of the interim condensed
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023 was amended to reflect the appropriate order
of liquidity of such assets and liabilities, respectively, in accordance with the requirements of TAS 1.
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30. COMPARATIVE RESTATEMENT (continued)

The following table summarizes the reclassification impact on the consolidated financial information as follows:

Consolidated statement of income for the year ended

31 December 2023

Net investment income (1) (2)

Interest income (1)

Share of results from associates (2)

Loss from discontinued operations (12)

Loss from sale of a subsidiary (12)

Profit for the year from continuing operations (12)
Earning per share (13)

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2023

Items that are or may be subsequently reclassified to the

consolidated statement of income:

Share of other comprehensive income of associates (11)

Change in the fair value of financial assets at FVOCI

(debt instruments) (10)
Hyperinflation impact (3)

Items that will not subsequently be reclassified to the consolidated

statement of income:

Change in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI (10)

Share of other comprehensive income of associates (11)

Hyperinflation impact (3)
Consolidated statement of financial position

31 December 2023

Cash and cash equivalents (4)
Time deposits (4)

Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss (6)

Other assets (6) (8)(7)

Deferred tax assets from foreign subsidiaries (8)
Right of use assets (7)

Income tax payables (5)

Deferred tax liabilities from foreign subsidiaries (8)

Other liabilities (8) (5)(9)(7)
Provision for end of service benefits (9)
Lease liabilities (7)

As previously Reclassification/r

reported
KD 000’s

48,444

(8,872)
38,401
74.73 fils

As previously
reported
KD 000’s

(469)

93)
2,457

As previously
reported
KD 000’s

165,834
53,245
89,429
45,507

131,176

estatement
KD 000’s

(32,245)
29,927
2,318
8,872
(8,872)
(8,872)
(12.11 fils)

Reclassification

KD 000’s

(101)

(630)
2,457

630

101

(2,457)

Reclassification

KD 000’s

(9,429)
9,429
8,140

(16,719)
3,231
5,348

11,501
1,618
(35,240)
17,087
5,034

Restated
KD 000°’s

16,199
29,927
2,318

(8,872;

29,529
62.62 fils

Restated

KD 000’s

(570)

(630)
2,457

537
101

Restated

KD 000’s

156,405
62,674
97,569
28,788

3,231
5,348
11,501
1,618
95,936
17,087
5,034
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As at and for the year ended 31 December 2024

30. COMPARATIVE RESTATEMENT (continued)

Consolidated statement of cash flows As previously
31 December 2023 reported  Reclassification — Restated
KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s

Net investment income (1) (46,126) 29,927 (16,199)
Interest income (1) - (29,927) (29,927)
Provision charged for end of service benefits (9) - 3,006 3,006
Change in other liabilities (9) (7) (33,444) 5,496 (27,948)
Provision for end of service benefits paid (9) - (1,256) (1,256)
Income taxes paid (5) - (5,403) (5,403)
Net cash flows generated from operating activities 33,257 1,843 35,100
Net movement in investments (1) (4) (95,464) (9,825) (105,289)
Net cash flows used in investing activities (62,004) (9,429) (71,433)
Net movement in bank overdraft (1) 3,082 (3,082) -
Payment of lease liabilities (7) - (1,843) (1,843)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (29,622) (4,925) (34,547)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (58,369) (12,511) (70,880)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (1) (4) 165,834 (12,511) 153,323
Consolidated statement of financial position As previously
1 January 2023 reported Reclassification Restated

KD 000’s KD 000’s KD 000’s
Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss (6) 53,458 7,531 60,989
Other assets (6) (7) 57,776 (14,596) 43,180
Deferred tax assets from foreign subsidiaries (8) - 2,544 2,544
Right of use assets (7) - 4,521 4,521
Income tax payables (5) - 10,772 10,772
Deferred tax liabilities from foreign subsidiaries (8) - 573 573
Other liabilities (9) (7) 153,448 (31,281) 122,167
Provision for end of service benefits (9) - 15,509 15,509
Lease liabilities (7) B 4,427 4,427

31. Domestic Minimum Top-Up Tax

On 30 December 2024, Kuwait issued the Decree Law (157) of 2024 which introduces a Domestic Minimum
Top-Up Tax (“DMTT?) for Multinational Enterprises (“MNEs”) (hereinafter referred to as the “DMTT Law™)
with an effective date of 1 January 2025. DMTT Law is largely in line with the OECD Global Anti-Base Erosion
Pillar Two Model Rules (‘GloBE rules’) and applies a 15% effective tax rate to Kuwait profits of MNEs with
global consolidated revenues of at least EUR 750 million in at least two of the previous four fiscal years. This
includes MNEs headquartered in Kuwait as well as foreign MNEs. However, the Executive Regulations are set to
be issued within 6 months from the date of issuing the Law, i.e. by end of June 2025.

The Group has made an assessment and has concluded that it is within the scope of DMTT Law based on the
revenue threshold and its operations in multiple jurisdictions. However, since the newly enacted regulations are
only effective from fiscal years commencing on or after 1 January 2025, there is no current tax impact for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The Group is currently preparing for compliance with the DMTT Law and GloBE and
as at 31 December 2024, the Group’s management has not yet completed their assessment of the quantitative
impact of the DMTT law and GloBE rules.
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